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About the Cover 
The exploding light bulb symbolizes dramatic change in 
the electric-utility industry. Responding to the demand 
for customer choice, this industry is literally breaking 
out of its traditional confines and transforming itself into 
a global energy-services provider. WPL Holdings and, 
upon consummation of the merger, Interstate Energy 
Corporation, is committed to succeed in this global 
marketplace.

WPL Holdings, Inc.
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WPL Holdings, Inc. is the parent 
company of Wisconsin Power and Light 
Co. and Heartland Development Corp.  
Formed as a holding company in 1988, 
the company has its headquarters in 
Madison, Wisconsin and has assets of 
$1.9 billion.  

Wisconsin Power and Light Co., WPLH's 
utility subsidiary, provides electric 
energy to 385,237 customers and 
natural gas to 150,444 customers 
throughout a south-central Wisconsin 
service territory that spans roughly 
one-third of the state. WP&L and its 
subsidiary, South Beloit Water, Gas 
and Electric Co., also provide water 
service to 33,231 customers in 
three communities.  

Operating under the umbrella of 
Heartland Development Corp., WPLH's 
nonregulated businesses - RMT, Inc., 
Heartland Energy Group, Inc. and 
Heartland Properties, Inc. - offer 
environmental, energy and affordable
housing services, respectively, to 
customers across the nation.  

In 1997, regulatory review should be 
completed of a merger agreement that 
would combine WPL Holdings and two 
Iowa-based utility companies - IES 
Industries Inc. of Cedar Rapids and 
Interstate Power Co. of Dubuque. The 
newly combined company - Interstate 
Energy Corporation - will serve more 
than one million electric and natural-gas 
customers in Wisconsin, Iowa, Minnesota 
and Illinois.  

The common stock of WPL Holdings is 
publicly traded on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the symbol WPH.

,OMMON STOCK OF 

PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
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A $1,000 investment made in WPL Holdings stock on 
December 31, 1990 was worth $1,669 on December 31, 1996, 
assuming reinvestment of dividends.  

By definition, an annual report 
provides investors with a 
comprehensive presentation of 
financial and other corporate 
information from the preceding 
year. And, while you will learn 
about many significant 
developments that have transpired 
at WPL Holdings in 1996, this 
annual report - the last one you 
are likely to receive before WPL 
Holdings becomes part of 
Interstate Energy Corporation - is 
primarily focused on our vision 
for tomorrow.  

Not that long ago, the utility 
industry - and most electric 

and natural-gas utilities 
themselves - were usually 

characterized as staid monopolies.  
Accordingly, adjectives such as 
customer-focused, market-driven, 
innovative and cost-effective

usually have not been part of the 
utility-industry vocabulary.  

Over the next several years, 
however, this will all 
change - radically. Legislative 
and regulatory initiatives designed 
to allow customers real energy 
choices are currently under 
consideration in Congress as well 
as virtually every statehouse 
across the nation. Four states 
already have enacted customer
choice legislation, while six 
others - including Illinois and 
Michigan - are expected to allow 
customers the right to choose 
their energy supplier before the 
year 2000. Meanwhile, 
consumers participating in a 
series of customer-choice "trial 
runs" in Illinois, New Hampshire 
and Massachusetts already are 
saving about 15 percent on their 
electric bills.  

Without question, the injection of 
competition into this industry will 
help sort out the winners from the 
losers in the energy marketplace.  
Roger W. Gale, president of the 
Washington International Energy 
Group, offers this analysis: "The 
presumed winners are active 
players with expansionary visions 
and aggressive, well-designed 
growth strategies. While success is 
by no means assured, they have 
taken control of their own 
destinies and are certain to fare 
better than their passive, less 
visionary competitors."

TO O(Rg
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WPL Holdings President and CEO Erroll B. Davis Jr. has assembled a 
senior management team committed to growth in a competitive energy 
marketplace. Pictured around the table, beginning at far left and 
moving clockwise, are: Lance W Ahearn, president and CEO, Heartland 
Development Corp.; Eliot G. Protsch, senior vice president, WP&L; 
A.J. (Nino) Amato, senior vice president, WP&L; and William D. Harvey, 
senior vice president, WP&L.  

As you will see throughout this 
report, WPL Holdings - and its 
anticipated successor, Interstate 
Energy Corporation - stack up 

very well against Mr. Gale's 
prescribed measuring stick. Long 
before most utility-industry 
observers began talking seriously 
about competition, your company 
began preparing for the day when 
every customer could choose his 
or her energy supplier. WPL 
Holdings was among the first to not 
only recognize the inevitability of 
a competitive energy marketplace, 
but also position itself to succeed 
in this dynamic new environment.  

To compete more effectively in a 
world of customer choice, WPL 
Holdings - thanks to your strong 
vote of support - is well on its 
way toward completing a three-way 
merger with two Iowa-based utility 
companies: IES Industries of Cedar 
Rapids and Interstate Power Co.  
of Dubuque. By combining as 
Interstate Energy Corporation, the 
three utility companies will serve 
more than 870,000 electric and 
360,000 natural-gas customers in 
Wisconsin, Iowa, Minnesota 
and Illinois.  

With approximately $2 billion 
in market capitalization and 
$4.5 billion in assets, Interstate 
Energy Corporation will develop 
and market a much wider array 
of energy products and services 
thaner w rodus d p b e s Erroll B. Davis Jr. is president and CEO of both WPL Holdings, Inc.  

thanwoud b posibl byand Wisconsin Power and Light Co.  remaining as three stand-aloneanWscsiPoeadLghC.  Davis will become president and CEO of Interstate Energy 
Corporation upon consummation of a three-way merger 
involving WPL Holdings, IES Industries and Interstate Power Co.

5
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A wide array of stock and 
financial news about WPL 
Holdings is available to 
anyone with access to the 
Internet. Here shareowner 
Jody Nussbaum calls up the 
WPL Holdings home page in 
the comfort of her own home 
in De Forest, Wisconsin. The 
WPL Holdings home page 
can be reached at 
http://www.wplh.com.  

companies. Robert W. Baird and 
Co., a regional brokerage firm, 

says the three-way strategic 
alliance "offers superior long-term 
returns to shareholders." 

Looking back on 1996, increasing 
interest rates combined with 
investor uncertainty about the 
changes taking place in our 
industry contributed toward a 
slight downturn in utility stock 
prices. WPL Holdings was not 
spared from this trend. Although 
WPL Holdings' common stock 
closed the year at $28.125, down 
$2.50 from 1995's year-end 
price, WPLH's common-stock 
dividend - paid quarterly for the 
past 51 years - was increased by 
the Board of Directors in 1996 
from $1.94 to $1.97 per share on 
an annualized basis. In January 

1997, the Board increased the 
quarterly dividend to 50 cents, 
or $2.00 on an annualized basis.

6



The question is no longer if but when all customers will have 
the right to shop around and choose an electric-energy 
supplier. Thanks to action taken by legislatures or public 
utility commissions, increasing numbers of customers in 10 
states (highlighted in the adjacent map) are expected to be able 
to choose their energy supplier before the year 2000. Virtually 
all other states are considering customer-choice initiatives.

Customer choice 
emerges across 

the nation

Despite a very mild summer in 
1996 - which resulted in far less 
demand for electricity than 
occurred during the extremely hot 
summer of 1995 - your company 

earned $2.38 per share in 1996 
from continuing operations, 
compared with $2.33 in 1995. At 
Wisconsin Power and Light Co., 
our utility subsidiary, earnings 
were driven by several factors: 
(1) higher natural-gas and electric 
sales resulting from cooler-than
normal weather during the spring; 
(2) higher-than-expected sales of 
electric power to other utilities, 
resulting from WP&L's enterprising 
bulk-power marketing business; 
(3) strategic use of a 
performance-based rate 
mechanism; (4) continuing 
implementation of aggressive 
cost-control measures; and (5) 
the sale of WP&L's South Fond du 
Lac Combustion Turbine Unit 4 to 
Wisconsin Public Power Inc.  
SYSTEM, a municipal electric 
company and wholesale electric 
customer of WP&L.  

These earnings were, in part, 
offset by: (1) losses on natural
gas and electric sales contracts 
at Heartland Energy Services, 
WPLH's nonregulated energy
marketing subsidiary; and (2) 
higher-than-expected costs for 
power purchased from other 
utilities, resulting from a 
prolonged maintenance outage at 
the Kewaunee (Wisconsin)

Choice 
legislation signed 

Planning to have choice before 2000

LI Considering choice options

Nuclear Power Plant. Kewaunee is 
41-percent owned by WP&L.  

Despite another year of 
tremendous change, the 
developments of 1996 continue 
to validate the strategic vision 
that WPL Holdings - and 

thereafter, Interstate Energy 
Corporation - have chosen for 
the future. As detailed throughout 
this report, your company's fate in 
a competitive marketplace will be 
determined by satisfying customer 
needs such as comfort, security, 
safety, reliability and 
convenience - all of which will 
provide far more value to 
customers than mere delivery of 
electricity or natural gas.  

In closing, let me state our guiding 
principles for the future. First, we 
believe that customers are quite 
capable, in a competitive 
marketplace, of making intelligent

and informed choices of energy 
products and services. Second, we 
believe that we should earn the 
right each and every day to serve 
customers. If we can't provide 
the most responsive and cost
effective service to customers, 
then we should forfeit the right to 
serve them.  

On behalf of all WPL Holdings' 
management and employees, 
thank you for your continuing 
support. Because of your ongoing 
confidence, we are ready and 
eager to take on the exhilarating 
challenges that lie ahead.

7-
7,

Erroll B. Davis Jr.  
President and Chief 
Executive Officer 
WPL Holdings, Inc.  

March 10, 1997
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On September 5, 1996, WPL 
Holdings' President and CEO 
Erroll B. Davis Jr. proudly 
announced to WPLH 
shareowners that the three
way merger agreement to 
create Interstate Energy 
Corporation was approved 
simultaneously by 
shareowners of WPL 
Holdings, IES Industries and 
Interstate Power Co.
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The three companies that will combine as Interstate 
Energy Corporation all ranked among the top third 
of 79 U.S. electric utilities evaluated in 1996 by 
Robert W Baird & Co., a Milwaukee-based regional 
brokerage firm. Baird ranks electric-utility companies 
each month using three factors: competitive position, 
financial strength and valuation.

Competitive Risk - Adjusted Total Return 
0verall Rank* Electric Utility 

1 (tradin sbl ) 
WPL Holdings, Inc. (WPH) 

IS - IES Industries Inc. (IES) 

26 23 Interstate Power Co. (IPW)

52-
*Overall rank is the average of 
all Robert W Baird & Co. 1996 
monthly rankings. 79-

A merger agreement exists on 
paper only. Turning three 
companies such as WPL 
Holdings, Inc., IES Industries Inc.  
and Interstate Power Co. into 
one, however, takes a great deal 
of work.  

Thanks to hundreds of employees 
at each of the three merger 
partners, considerable progress 
was made in 1996 toward 
combining the three low-cost 
utility companies into a total 
energy-services provider known 
as Interstate Energy Corporation.  

On September 5, 1996, 
shareowners of WPL Holdings, IES 
Industries and Interstate Power, 
respectively, approved the historic 
three-way merger agreement 
initially announced on November 
11, 1995. The merger was 
approved by 72 percent of WPL 
Holdings shares and 71 percent of 
Interstate Power shares. At IES 
Industries, the merger agreement 
was approved by 54 percent of 
shares only after a hostile 
takeover attempt of IES by 
MidAmerican Energy Co., Des 
Moines, Iowa, was fended off.  

On September 20, 1996, 
executive vice presidents of 
Interstate Energy Corporation 
were named, pending ultimate 
approval by the IEC Board of 
Directors, which has not yet been 
formed. Once IEC is created, 
Eliot G. Protsch, William D.  
Harvey, James E. Hoffman and 
Michael R. Chase will lead the

Energy Delivery, Generation, 
Business Development, and 
Administration business units, 
respectively. Protsch and Harvey 
are currently senior vice 
presidents at Wisconsin Power 
and Light Co. Hoffman is currently 
executive vice president of IES 
Industries and IES Utilities, while 
Chase is currently president and 
CEO of Interstate Power Co. All 
four of the executive vice 
presidents will report to Erroll 
Davis, who will serve as 
president and CEO of Interstate 
Energy Corporation.  

Lee Liu, currently chairman and 
CEO of IES Industries, will serve 
as chairman of the board of 
Interstate Energy Corporation.  
Wayne Stoppelmoor, currently 
chairman of Interstate Power Co., 
will serve as vice-chairman of the 
new company.  

In 1997, it'is expected that the 
merger-review process should be 
completed. Merger approval must 
be secured from the Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission, 
as well as public utility 
commissions in Wisconsin, Iowa, 
Minnesota and Illinois. Other 
related approvals must be 
obtained from two other federal 
agencies - the Securities and 

Exchange Commission and the 
Nuclear Regulatory Commission.  

Once Interstate Energy 
Corporation is a reality, the three 
existing utility companies will

serve more than 870,000 electric 
and 360,000 natural-gas 
customers in four states.  
With approximately $2 billion in 
market capitalization and $4.5 
billion in assets, Interstate 
Energy Corporation would rank 
as the 34th largest out of 178 U.S.  
utilities and utility 
holding companies.  

Interstate Energy 
Corporation 
Service Territory 

F-1 IES Utilities Inc.  
Interstate Power Co.  

Wisconsin Power 
and Light Co.

2



/2 96Business Review 

Lq'eeadiG

WP&L is gearing up for competition by piloting a new Work 
Management System at the Columbia Energy Center. The system 
handles and prioritizes all work at Columbia's coal-handling 
operation through a computerized data base - saving time and 
money. Here, Columbia employees Randy Kearney, left, and Mike 
Carney, right, attend to a key piece of Columbia's coal-handling 
equipment as Dan Doyle, vice president-power production, 
observes their work.

Traditional, regulation-driven 
energy pricing allows utilities to 
charge customers electric or 
natural-gas rates that both cover 
the utility company's costs and 
provide earnings for shareowners.  
In a competitive environment that 
frees energy customers to shop 
around, however, only the most 
cost-effective power-production 
businesses will be profitable.  

The inevitable transformation of 
the electric-utility industry from a 
monopoly to a competitive 
environment is driving a new way 
of thinking at Wisconsin Power 
and Light Co., the major 
subsidiary of WPL Holdings.  
Unequivocally, WP&L must 
produce electricity at the lowest 
possible price to maximize 
earnings once customers are no 
longer bound to their local 
monopoly utility.  

Due in large part to power plants 
that are already quite cost
effective, WP&L's electricity rates 
are within the lowest quartile in 
the nation. To succeed in a 
competitive environment, 
however, the company's power
production costs must be driven 
even lower. Most WP&L plants 
burn coal, and the company has 
aggressively taken steps that have 
resulted in an 18-percent drop in 
delivered coal costs between 1993 
and 1996. Moreover, downtime for 
plant maintenance - a significant 
drag on sales - is being reduced 
to maximize profitability.  

Thanks to a 1992 act of Congress, 
utilities are now increasingly able/O0



Greg Neal, operations manager at WP&L's Edgewater Energy Center, says that 
success in a competitive marketplace requires new skills and new ways of thinking 
within the generation business.  

"We are improving our competitive skills to better meet the market," Neal said. "This 
is being accomplished in conjunction with our bulk-power marketing group, which is 
buying and selling power whenever it is to our benefit. The market is the driving force 
that is changing our old regulated mind-set and will make us profitable in the 
competitive marketplace of the future."

~~~1

I
During the fall of 1996, WP&L's Nelson Dewey 
Generating Station rose to the challenge of 
reducing the scheduled maintenance-outage 
time at its #2 Unit by 33 percent. In getting 
the unit back on-line two weeks earlier than 
normal, Nelson Dewey sold an additional 
$80,000 of electricity into the market.

Over the past three years, WP&L has reduced its 
delivered coal costs by 18 percent, in large part 
by purchasing lower-cost coal from Western 
states. With a lower sulfur content, the Western 
coal has also helped reduce sulfur-dioxide 
emissions and further enhanced WP&L's 
reputation for environmental stewardship.  
Pictured here is the "coal scooper" handling a 
load at WP&L's Columbia Energy Center.

to reach across the continent to 
buy and sell power from one 
another, instead of relying solely 
on their own generators or power 
purchased from neighboring 
utilities. Although it will be a few 
years before all customers have 
the right to choose their energy 
supplier, the overhaul of WP&L's 
generation business already is 
bearing fruit in the bulk-power 
marketplace. By aggressively 
pursuing bulk-power trading 
opportunities, WP&L more than 
tripled its bulk-power sales 
volume between 1995 and 1996.  
Now doing business with entities 
in 34 states and three Canadian 
provinces, WP&L's bulk-power 
operation contributed significantly 
to earnings for 1996.  

Reflecting its well-known respect 
for its natural surroundings, WP&L

developed a Power Generation 
Environmental Management 
model in 1996 that enhances the 
company's compliance with 
environmental regulations and 
standards. This system not only 
streamlines the collection of plant 
operation data, but also provides 
instantaneous reporting data on 
sulfur-dioxide emissions, waste
water discharges and combustion 
by-products.  

During the fourth quarter of 1996, 
a maintenance outage at the 
Kewaunee Nuclear Power 
Plant - a co-owned power
production facility that provides 
about 13 percent of WP&L's 
electricity generation - was 
extended for longer than 
anticipated. The extended outage 
was caused by corrosion in the 
plant's steam-generator tubes that

necessitated more repair work 
than originally expected.  

As a result of these unanticipated 
costs, a charge to earnings of 
approximately 11 cents per share 
occurred in 1996. WP&L will 
continue to work with the two 
other co-owners of the Kewaunee 
facility to develop sensible, long
term solutions that are in the best 
interests of WP&L customers and 
shareowners.

/1



Business Review

The onset of competition in the 
energy marketplace presents a 
tremendous challenge: how does 
WP&L distinguish itself from the 
competition once customers have 
the right to shop around? 
Fortunately, WP&L is not only 
meeting, but exceeding this 
incredible challenge.  

By putting the customer at the 
center of every major business 
decision, WP&L is not only 
providing better customer service 
than before, but better customer 
service than many competitors 
are offering. According to a recent 
international benchmarking study 
of 33 utilities throughout the 
world, WP&L ranked among the 
best-in-class performers in six 
categories. (See adjacent photo of 
PACE report.) 

Among these categories, WP&L 
was especially pleased to be 
recognized for its emergency
response performance. Customers 
expect prompt action if the 
electricity goes out or a natural
gas odor is detected. Thanks to a 
keener focus on the customer and 
process improvements, WP&L 
now restores power during an 
after-hours outage, on average, in 
about 1 hour and 20 minutes. In 
the case of an after-hours 
natural-gas emergency, WP&L 
responds with a knock on the 
customer's door within 38 
minutes, on average.  

While customers appreciate 
WP&L's ability to respond quickly 
when power is lost, customers 
clearly would prefer to avoid the

experience of an outage in the first 
place. To reduce the likelihood of 
outages, WP&L currently is 
investing $5 million in a variety 
of reliability-improvement 
mechanisms. So far, this 
investment appears to be paying 
dividends, as total outage time 
within WP&L's service territory 
dropped by nearly 25 percent 
between 1995 and 1996. This is 
an example of WP&L showing 
customers that business must 
always be earned.  

To attract customers in a 
competitive environment, WP&L 
must be available any time that 
customers want to speak to a 
service representative.  
Accordingly, WP&L's 24-hour 
Customer Service Center is on call 
to assist customers with billing 
and other service questions seven 
days a week, 365 days a year.  
Survey results indicate an 
overwhelming degree of 
satisfaction with the Customer 
Service Center. Moreover, 
approximately 80 percent of the 
nearly 1 million customer-service 
calls taken by WP&L each year 
are answered within 20 seconds.  

As global economic pressures 
force businesses to reduce costs, 
WP&L is responding by providing 
total energy solutions that go far 
beyond the delivery of electricity 
or natural gas. Be it enhancing 
business-process efficiency or 
ensuring the reliability of a plant's 
electrical system, WP&L product 
offerings such as Total Energy 
Services and Power System

Customer choice is already a 
reality for 2,200 property owners 
in the growing recreational 
community of Lake Summerset, 
Illinois. Last year, Lake Summerset 
residents chose WP&L over an 
Illinois utility as their natural-gas 
provider of choice. WP&L Gas 
Technician Jeannie Mullen, above, 
was among those employees 
responsible for satisfying these 
new gas customers.  

Services allow commercial and 
industrial customers to focus 
exclusively on their core business.  
Aggressive sales and marketing 
efforts of these value-added 
products and services contributed 
approximately six cents per share 
of 1996 earnings - an 

achievement that should be 
exceeded in 1997.  

With competition already familiar 
to the natural-gas industry, 
WP&L's natural-gas business 
already has demonstrated how 
both shareowners and customers 
benefit from market forces.



Strong customer relationships are the foundation 
upon which WP&L's business is built. And in many 
cases, these relationships begin even before the 
customer's plant is operating. Consider Cardinal FG's 
glass-manufacturing facility in Portage, Wisconsin, for 
example. On March 1, 1996, Cardinal began 
production at its new 350,000-square-foot plant.  
WP&L helped make it happen.  

"WP&L has been a big help to us all along the 
way," said Cardinal FG Plant Manager Pat Watson.  
"From the site selection through construction and

start up, we've had a very good relationship." 
Cardinal's Portage facility is WP&L's largest 

natural-gas customer The plant - a $70 million 
investment in the central Wisconsin 
community - operates continuously throughout the 
year, producing 550 tons of glass per day. In the 
photo to the left, one of Cardinal's 250 employees 
inspects the glass under the lights before it is 
trimmed and cut for distribution. Cardinal glass can 
be found in windows sold all across the country.

Success in a competitive energy 
marketplace will be determined by the 
ability to deliver the highest quality 
service to customers at the lowest cost.  
In a 1996 international benchmarking 
study known as PACE (Performance 
and Competitive Excellence), WP&L was 
awarded "best-in-class" status in six 
customer-service categories, including 
outage-restoration time.

Through aggressive purchasing 
and sales of gas and pipeline 
capacity, WP&L delivered $1.15 
million to earnings in 1996 under 
the performance-based rate 
program, while simultaneously 
providing its customers with 
highly competitive gas rates. As 
the only Wisconsin utility 
authorized to implement 
performance-based rates, WP&L 
already has an advantage that 
will bode customers and 
shareowners well in a 
competitive environment.

Falling tree branches are among the leading causes of electric
power outages. To help prevent these outages, WP&L Line
Clearance Technician Larry Tessman trims a tree in scenic 
Poynette, Wisconsin. Thanks to WP&L's line-clearance 
operations, tree-caused customer-outage time was reduced 25 
percent between 1995 and 1996.
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Business Review

Developed by WPLH's Heartland Properties Inc., the 
Timber Trails apartment community - located in 
Wisconsin Rapids, Wisconsin - combines affordable 
living with beautiful wooded surroundings and easy 
access to schools and shopping.  

Since its formation in 1988, Heartland Properties, 
Inc. and its sister company, Capital Square Financial 
Corporation, have been responsible for the acquisition, 
development, financing and syndication of more than 
100 high-quality multi-family housing developments 
through utilization of the federal Low Income Housing 
Tax Credit (Section 42) program. These tax
advantaged properties have provided valuable 
investment opportunities for WPL Holdings and other 
corporate investors.  

The jointly-owned affordable housing portfolio is 
currently valued at more than $230 million. In 1996, 
the focus of Heartland Properties shifted increasingly 
to providing asset management services to the existing 
WPLH and investor portfolios. Integrated work 
processes for property management oversight, 
compliance monitoring and financial reporting to 
investors have been designed to ensure the integrity of 
long-term assets and provide competitive returns to 
WPL Holdings and its investment partners.

/4

As the energy marketplace becomes 
more competitive, the anticipated 
merger of WPL Holdings with IES 
Industries and Interstate Power Co.  
will present the newly combined 
company - Interstate Energy 

Corporation - with several exciting 
growth opportunities in the Business 
Development, or nonregulated, entity 
of the company.  

Since its creation in 1988, Heartland 
Development Corp., currently the 
parent of WPL Holdings' 
nonregulated businesses, has been 
managed as a portfolio of companies 
engaged in energy services, 
environmental-management services 
and affordable housing.  

With competitive pressures lurking 
just around the corner in the electric
utility industry, however, the strategic 
focus of the company's nonregulated 
operations will be more closely 
aligned with the comprehensive 
energy-services focus of Interstate 
Energy Corporation as a whole.  

After completion of the merger, 
Interstate Energy Corporation's 
nonregulated companies will provide 
a full range of innovative products 
and services to customers both 
nationally and internationally.  
While large industry will be the 
primary marketing target of the 
Business Development operation, 
Interstate Energy Corporation will 
aggressively seek out commercial, 
residential and regional chain
account customers as well.  

By harvesting many highly-cultivated 
customer relationships, Interstate 
Energy Corporation will aggressively



On January 1, 1997, IES Industries and WPL Holdings formed 
a joint venture between two portions of their nonregulated 
subsidiaries. To provide industrial customers with a wider 
array of energy products and services, the gas-marketing 
and small-scale generation components of WPLH's Heartland 
Energy Services combined with IES's Industrial Energy HEARTLAND 
Applications. Founded in 1983, IEA provides natural-gas 
marketing and transportation services, develops steam and 
electric-generation projects and offers many other services 
to customers.  

follow commercial and industrial 
customers all over the globe, 
ready to provide total energy 
solutions while freeing the 
customer to concentrate on its 
own core business. Energy, 
environmental, engineering, 
construction and operations
support services are but a few of 
the solutions Interstate Energy 
Corporation intends to provide.  

Today, for example, more than 
65 percent of all FORTUNE 100 
companies - including metals 

manufacturers, chemical and 
pharmaceutical companies, and 
petroleum refiners - have turned 
to RMT, Inc., WPL Holdings' 
environmental and engineering 
consulting firm, for assistance in 
managing their environmental, 
health and safety programs. Once 
these customers have the right to 
shop for an energy supplier, 
Interstate Energy Corporation 
will be there, ready to broaden its 
product and service offerings to 
meet the ever-increasing needs 
of large industry in a 
global economy.  

On January 1, 1997, the non
regulated natural-gas marketing At its Alpena, Michigan facility, the Lafarge Corporation, a client of 
and small-scale generation RMT Inc., manufactures Type 1/11 cement that is used in everything from 
subsidiaries of IES Industries and hospitals and homes to schools, tunnels and airports. A WPL Holdings 
WPL Holdings were combined subsidiary with 24 offices in 12 states, RMT assists Lafarge in better 
into a joint venture. By managing its environmental programs.  
combining these entities, "RMT played a significant role in helping us develop an effective 
industrial customers of both environmental-compliance strategy," said John Stull, vice president, 

compnie wil beefi frm a manufacturing for Lafarge. "RMT provided creative solutions to meet our 
companies will benefit from a unique site setting and helped to keep us focused on our overall 
broader scale of energy services objectives. Good business partners understand our long-term goals and 
than was previously available, help us achieve them. RMT's partnership is one we value."
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A History of

In an article announcing the WP&L 
merger, an executive explained 
that consolidation is necessary to 
achieve "a more economical and 
uniform operation of all the 
companies." Erroll Davis making a 
statement about the merger of WPL 
Holding with IES Industries and 
Interstate Power Co.? Not at all.  

That statement was made on April 
16, 1924, by Grover C. Neff, 
executive vice president of Middle 
West Utilities, when six Wisconsin 
power companies merged to form 
Middle West's new subsidiary, 
Wisconsin Power and Light Co. In 
many ways, the issues were 
similar - the need to meet 

customer needs, the need for 
improved reliability and efficiency, 
the need to develop new products 
and services - most of which had 
not yet been imagined.  

WP&L's first head, Marshall E.  
Sampsell, presided over 
numerous WP&L mergers and 
acquisitions. By 1929, more than 
100 small electric and gas 
companies had been brought 
together under the Wisconsin 
Power and Light Co. name.  

Envisioning a better life through 
electricity and, of course, more 
revenue from sales, WP&L began 
to market electricity-powered 
appliances and lighting during the 
1920s. Because of this aggressive 
electricity promotion, WP&L grew 
even during the depression.  
However, Middle West Utilities, its 
parent company, became over
extended and eventually was 
ordered into receivership.

WP&L operated Orange Line buses from 1924 to 1944, when low profits 
and increased pressure to focus on core utility operations forced its sale.  
At its peak, the Orange Line had 3.5 million passengers annually.

In 1932, the federal Public Utility 
Holding Company Act broke up 
the monopoly that comprised the 
Middle West companies and 
ensured WP&L would be free 
from the burden of its parent. At 
that point, Grover Neff assumed 
the presidency.  

For more than thirty years, Neff 
aggressively pursued rural 
electrification, the mergers that 
grew WP&L even further, and the 
regulatory change that moved it to 
independence. He retired as 
president of WP&L, having 
achieved his dream of rural 
electrification and cheap electricity.  

Neff was succeeded in 1954 by 
Carl Forsberg, who had joined the

company in 1934. His eleven-year 
tenure as president was 
characterized by growth and more 
change. In 1965, J. Don Howard, 
became president and served for 
two years.  

In 1967, James R. Underkofler 
assumed the president's position.  
A native of Baraboo, Wisconsin, 
he had worked part-time at WP&L 
when he was a college student.  
After World War II, he returned to 
WP&L, where his father had 
worked since 1917 and moved 
quickly up in the company. At the 
age of 44, he was named 
president.  

Underkofler lead the company 
through an initial period of rapid16



James R. Underkofler 
was the "catalyst who set 
the company in motion 
toward the future." 
Serving as president for 
21 years, he believed 
WP&L's greatest change 
would be "a cultural one, 
from a custodial attitude 
to one of flexibility 
and innovation."

After World War II, coal-fired steam generators gradually 
replaced hydro as the primary source of electrical energy in the 
state. The Edgewater Steam Electric Generation Station, built in 
1931, generated 30 MW of power and was the largest generator 
in Wisconsin at the time.

Window displays like this one in 
Dodgeville (1930s) promoted electrical 
appliances as a way to improve the 
quality of life in rural Wisconsin.

growth, which included the 
contentious process of building 
the Columbia Energy Center. He 
responded to the energy crisis 
with an extensive program of 
energy conservation in the 1980s 
and prophetically recognized 
and put in place systems and 
processes to manage 
environmental and regulatory 
issues that migrated to the 
forefront in years to come. He was 
also a leader in the fight for state 
legislation that allowed for the 
creation of WPL Holdings, Inc.  

His philosophy - that change was 
inevitable and WP&L must be 
prepared to lead, not follow, the 
change curve - set the stage for

restructuring into a more fluid and 
responsive organization focused 
on customers' needs. When 
Underkofler stepped down in 
1988, he had been a WP&L 
employee for almost 50 years. He 
had presided over social changes 
that brought women and 
minorities into the work force, 
redefined how the company saw 
its obligation to customers and 
embraced competition. When 
Erroll Davis assumed the position 
of CEO, he carried on 
Underkofler's press for quality 
improvements and the 
preparation of WP&L's culture 
for utility restructuring and 
competitive markets.

As WPL Holdings prepares to 
merge with IES Industries Inc. and 
Interstate Power Co., it is 
appropriate to reflect upon the 
tradition of progressive thought 
that historically characterized 
WP&L and its leadership. Today, 
the company is once again poised 
to shape tomorrow's vision in a 
changing industry. As its 
predecessors have in the past, 
Interstate Energy Corporation will 
be well prepared to seek 
advantage in the opportunities this 
change will offer.
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Community

I

Claire Michelle Isabel Miller, daughter of WP&L Power Marketing 
and Trading Director Thad Miller, sees just how high the bucket 
will reach. Proceeds from the sale of this WP&L toy bucket truck, 
which also serves as a bank, were contributed to the Home Town 
Energy Fund. In 1996, the company, its employees and 
customers provided more than $275,000 to the fund, which helps 
low-income families meet their energy needs during Wisconsin's 

/8 bitter-cold winters.

Kim Kricke, speech and language 
pathologist with the Arc of Fond 
du Lac, works with special needs 
students to improve their 
language stills. The Arc is just one 
of many agencies that benefit from 
the local United Way campaigns 
supported by employees and the 
WPL Foundation.  

With approximately $2 billion of 
assets invested in Wisconsin 
communities, primarily through its 
utility subsidiary, Wisconsin Power 
and Light Co., WPL Holdings has 
a strong commitment to the 
communities it serves.  
Environmental stewardship, 
corporate philanthropy, 
operational excellence and 
employee volunteerism all work 
together to illustrate a corporate 
philosophy of contributing to the 
quality of customers' lives as 
well as the financial success 
of shareowners.  

One highly visible example of 
community commitment and 
environmental leadership is the 
1,600 acres of land in the 
Merrimac area which was



On May 31, 1996, representatives of national, regional 
and state organizations were recognized as 
environmental partners with WPSL 
for their contribution to the Lake Wisconsin 
Watershed Restoration Project. At this special event, 
1,600 acres of WP&L land were dedicated to prairie, 
oak savanna and wetland conservation.

In the aftermath of a tornado 
which hit the Village of Oakfield, 
Wisconsin, WP&L restored power, 
contributed to the rebuilding 
of community facilities and 
pledged to plant $10,000 worth 
of trees to replace ones destroyed 
by the storm.  

dedicated as the Lake Wisconsin 
Watershed Restoration Project. At 
an event held in May, 1996 
attended by national, state and 
local environmentalists - the 
company honored the 
environmental partners who 
helped restore the woodlands, oak 
savanna and prairie of the project.  
The Watershed Project serves as a 
conservation-related work 
experience for at-risk youth, and 
as a site for WP&L and other 
environmental groups to teach 
conservation ethics and 
education. It also serves as a work 
site for the company's Stewards of 
Nature volunteers, a 1996 
Wisconsin Manufacturers and 
Commerce Friends of the 
Environment award winner.

In marked contrast to the bucolic 
scenery of the Lake Wisconsin 
Watershed Restoration Project, the 
devastation of the Oakfield 
tornado provided yet another 
opportunity to demonstrate the 
company's commitment to 
community and the environment.  

On July 18, a tornado tore 
through the Fond du Lac-area 
community of Oakfield, destroying 
or damaging 185 homes and 
businesses and nearly leveling the 
entire village. WP&L crews, 
working 24 hours a day, repaired 
500 feet of gas main, 110 service 
meters, 23 transmission poles and 
18,000 feet of distribution wire. In 
addition, the WPL Foundation 
supported the rebuilding of 
community facilities destroyed in 
the disaster. WP&L also com
mitted $10,000 from its tree-grant 
program to plant replacement 
trees for those destroyed by the 
storm. Teams of volunteers from 
area communities, local residents 
and WP&L employees all worked 
side-by-side to begin the process 
of rebuilding the community 
immediately after the storm - a 
true testimonial to the indomitable 
nature of the human spirit and the 
partnerships that exist among 
WP&L customers.  

Although disasters such as the 
Oakfield tornado demonstrate the 
ability of people to come together 
in times of great tragedies, WP&L 
and its employees show their 
caring and commitment 
throughout the year in many 
ways. For example, employees 
across the company sponsor

United Way fund drives at their 
work locations each year.  
Contributions from employees and 
the WPL Foundation to United 
Way campaigns totalled more 
than $300,000 in 1996.  

The WP&L Foundation uses its 
assets to invest in the 
development of community 
resources, thereby helping to 
ensure the continued viability of 
the WP&L service territory.  
Demonstrating a strong 
commitment to education, it has, 
over the last five years, provided 
more than $1.6 million toward 
educational initiatives, including 
teaching and student scholarship.  
Foundation dollars also support 
local community projects, which 
range from homeless shelters and 
the Salvation Army to the 
performing arts.  

Looking back to the company's 
early commitment to improving 
urban and rural life through 
energy, WP&L has always believed 
that its future is tied to the growth 
of the communities it serves. With 
increasing interests beyond 
traditional utility businesses and 
service territories, Interstate 
Energy Corporation will have an 
even greater investment in 
communities, and it will continue 
to strengthen its ties with 
customers by positively 
contributing to the quality of life 
of the communities it is privileged 
to serve.
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Company

Wisconsin Power 
and Light Co.  

CORPORATE 
HEADQUARTERS: 

Wisconsin Power and Light Co.  
Madison, Wis.  

WP&L

* Corporate Office * Energy Centers 0 Operation Centers

Heartland 
Development Corp.  

CORPORATE 
HEADQUARTERS: 

Heartland Development Corp.  
Madison, Wis.  

HEARTLAND 
DEVELOPRMENT CORP.

HDC OFFICE LOCATIONS 

* Corporate Offices 0 Environmental Services Offices
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS: 

Total assets: $1.68 billion 

Operating revenues: $759 million 

Net income: $79.2 million 

Total employees: 2,339 
Customers: 411,632 
(total electric, gas and water) 

SERVICE TERRITORY: 
16,000 square miles in south
central Wisconsin - roughly 
one-third of the state 

SUBSIDIARY: 
South Beloit Water, 
Gas and Electric Co.

FACILITIES: 
* 8 hydroelectric plants 

(2 jointly owned) 

* 7 natural-gas-fired peaking units 

* 4 coal-fired generating 
stations (includes 9 units; 
4 jointly owned) 

I 1 gas-fired steam 
generating plant 

1 1 nuclear power plant 
(jointly owned) 

* 1 Customer Service Center 

I 1 System Operations Center 

I 1 Distribution Dispatch Center 

Total system capacity: 
2,368 megawatts 

Record system peak demand: 
2,197 megawatts on 
July 31, 1995

Electric Revenues 
(as a percent of total revenues) 

Commercial 18% 

Residential & Farm 35% 

Other 1% 
Sales to Other 
Utilities 22% 
Industrial 24% 

Natural Gas Revenues 
(as a percent of total revenues) 

Interruptible 3% 
Transportation and 
Other 12 % 
Commercial and 
Industrial Firm 30% 
Residential 55%

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS: 
Total assets: $217 million 

Operating revenues: $174 million 

Loss from continuing operations: 
($3.5 million) 

Total employees: 739 

SUBSIDIARIES: 
Energy Services 
Heartland Energy Group, Inc.  
Heartland Energy Services, Inc.  
ENSERV, Inc.  

Environmental Services 
RMT, Inc.  

Affordable Housing 
Capital Square Financial Corp.  
Heartland Capital Co., L.L.C.  
Heartland Properties, Inc.

ORGANIZATION: 
Four corporate offices: 

* Corporate Headquarters 
Heartland Development Corp., 
Madison, Wis.  

" Energy Services 
Heartland Energy Group, Inc., 
Madison, Wis.  

+ Environmental Services 
RMT, Inc., Madison, Wis.  

* Affordable Housing 
Heartland Properties, Inc., 
Madison, Wis.  

General offices: 

28 located in 25 cities

HDC Operating Revenue

*0 

*0 

*0

Affordable Housing 8.6% 
Energy Services 42.5% 
Environmental Services 48.9%



Boards of

Board members as of December 31, 1996 
(Bracketed information represents first year of board affiliation)

Erroll B. Davis Jr., 52 
President and Chief Executive 
Officer, WPL Holdings, Inc. and 
Wisconsin Power and Light Co.; 
Chairman of the Board, 
Heartland Development Corp., 
Madison, Wisconsin 
{19821 
Committees: None 

Carol T. Toussaint, 67 
Consultant (to nonprofit groups 
on board organization, fund 
development and public 
relations), Madison, Wisconsin 
119761 
Committees: 2, 3, 6* 

Judith D. Pyle, 53 
Vice Chairman, The Pyle Group 
(Financial Services Company), 
Madison, Wisconsin 
(19921 
Committees: 2, 5, 6

L. David Carley, 68 
Consultant (to institutions and 
associations in higher 
education and health delivery, 
and financial advisor to and 
investor in small businesses), 
Washington, D.C.  
(19751 
Committees: 1, 3, 4, 5* 

Arnold M. Nemirow, 53 
President, Bowater, Inc., (pulp 
and paper manufacturer), 
Greenville, South Carolina 
(19911 
Committees: 2*, 5, 6 

Rockne G. Flowers, 65 
President and Director, Nelson 
Industries, Inc. (muffler, filter, 
industrial silencer, and active 
sound and vibration control 
technology and manufacturing 
firm), Stoughton, Wisconsin 
(19791 
Committees: 1, 4*, 5
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WPL Holdings' Board Member Judith Pyle, 
left, meets with IES Industries Board Member 
Anthony Weiler, right, and other members of 
the IES and Interstate Power Co. boards.  
WPL Holdings, IES Industries and Interstate 
Power Co. will combine as Interstate Energy 
Corporation in 1997.

Donald R. Haldeman, 60 
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Executive Officer, Rural 
Insurance Companies (mutual 
insurance group), Madison, 
Wisconsin; and farm owner
operator, Norwalk, Wisconsin 
{19851 
Committees: 1, 3*, 6 

Milton E. Neshek, 66 
President, Chief Executive 
Officer and Director, Godfrey, 
Neshek, Worth & Leibsle, S.C.  
(law firm), Elkhorn, Wisconsin; 
Director, General Counsel, 
Assistant Secretary and 
Manager, New Market 
Development, Kikkoman 
Foods, Inc. (food-products 
manufacturer), Walworth, 
Wisconsin 
(19841 
Committees: 2, 3, 4

Henry C. Prange, 69 
Retired Chairman of the Board, 
H.C. Prange Company (retail 
department stores), 
Green Bay, Wisconsin 
119651 
Committees: 2, 4, 5

Katharine C. Lyall, 55 
President, University of 
Wisconsin System, 
Madison, Wisconsin 
(19861 
Committees: 1*, 4, 5 

Lance W. Ahearn, * 47 
President and Chief Executive 
Officer, Heartland Development 

) Corp., (WPLH subsidiary 
specializing in energy, 
environmental and housing 
services), Madison, Wisconsin 

119901 
Committees: None 
* Heartland Development Corp.  
Board Only 

WPL HOLDINGS, INC. (WPLH) 

WiscoNsIN POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY (WP&L) 

HEARTLAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (HDC) 

Committee Number & Name 
1 Audit 
2 Compensation and Personnel 
3 Environmental Affairs 
4 HDC Corporate Operations Review 
5 Nominating & Governance 
6 WP&L Corporate Operations Review 
* Chairperson of Committee



Executive qGp OF THE WPL HOLDINGS, INC. FAMILY OF COMPANIES 
As of December 31, 1996 
(Dates in parentheses represent the year each person joined WPLH and/or subsidiary)

WPL HOLDINGS, INC. (WPLH) 
CORPORATE OFFICERS 
Erroll B. Davis Jr., 52 (1978) 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer 

Edward M. Gleason, 56 (1977) 
Vice President, Treasurer and Corporate 
Secretary 

Steven F. Price, 44 (1984) 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 
and Assistant Treasurer 

WISCONSIN POWER AND LIGHT 
COMPANY (WP&L) CORPORATE 
OFFICERS 
Erroll B. Davis Jr., 52 (1978) 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer 

A.J. (Nino) Amato, 45 (1985) 
Senior Vice President 

William D. Harvey, 47 (1986) 
Senior Vice President 

Eliot G. Protsch, 43 (1978) 
Senior Vice President 

Daniel A. Doyle, 38 (1992) 
Vice President-Power Production 

David E. Eflestad, 56 (1960)* 
Vice President 

Joseph E. Shefchek, 40 (1984) 
Assistant Vice President-Environmental 
Affairs and Research 

Barbara J. Swan, 45 (1987) 
Vice President and General Counsel 

Pamela J. Wegner, 49 (1993) 
Vice President-Information Technology 
and Administration 

Kim K. Zuhlke, 43 (1978) 
Vice President-Customer Sales and 
Services

Edward M. Gleason, 56 (1977) 
Corporate Treasurer, 
Secretary and Controller 

Susan J. Kosmo, 50 (1986) 
Assistant Controller 

Steven F. Price, 44 (1984) 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 

David A. Ramos, 40 (1983) 
Assistant Controller 

Robert A. Rusch, 34 (1989) 
Assistant Treasurer 

SUBSIDIARY OF WISCONSIN 
POWER AND LIGHT 
COMPANY 
South Beloit Water Gas 
and Electric Company 

Erroll B. Davis Jr., 52 (1978) 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

William D. Harvey, 47 (1986) 
Senior Vice President 

Edward M. Gleason, 56 (1977) 
Vice President, Treasurer, Controller and 
Corporate Secretary 

Susan J. Kosmo, 50 (1986) 
Assistant Controller 

David A. Ramos, 40 (1983) 
Assistant Controller 

Steven F. Price, 44 (1984) 
Assistant Secretary 

Robert A. Rusch, 34 (1989) 
Assistant Treasurer 

HEARTLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION (HDC) 
CORPORATE OFFICERS 
Erroll B. Davis Jr., 52 (1978) 
Chairman of the Board 

Lance W. Ahearn, 47 (1990) 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Cynthia P. Kellogg, 42 (1992) 
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, 
Treasurer and Secretary 

Marilyn C. Bottorff, 50 (1992) 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 

Edward M. Gleason, 56 (1977) 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 

HEARTLAND DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION (HDC) 
COMPANIES 
Capital Square 
Financial Corporation 
Ruth A. Domack, 47 (1993) 
President 

Heartland Energy Group, Inc.  
Claire K. Fulenwider, 54 (1993) 
President 

Heartland Properties, Inc.  
Ruth A. Domack, 47 (1993) 
President 

RM4 Inc.  
Lance W. Ahearn, 47 (1990) 
Chairman of the Board 

Mark E. Smith, 42 (1978) 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

WISCONSIN POWER & LIGHT 
FOUNDATION, INC.  
A.J. (Nino) Amato, 45 (1985) 
President 

Linda G. Brei, 48 (1987) 
Vice President 

Robert A. Rusch, 34 (1989) 
Secretary and Treasurer

* Retired February 1, 1997
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (MD&A) 

The Company, IES Industries, Inc. (IES) and Interstate Power Co. (IPC) have entered into an 
Agreement and Plan of Merger, as amended (Merger Agreement), dated November 10, 1995, 
which provides for the combination of all three companies. As a result of the transactions 
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the combined company, Interstate Energy Corporation 
(Interstate Energy), currently anticipates cost savings of approximately $749 million over a ten
year period, net of transaction costs and costs to achieve the savings of approximately $14 million 
and $64.4 million, respectively. The estimate of potential cost savings constitutes a forward
looking statement and actual results may differ materially from this estimate. The estimate is 
necessarily based upon various assumptions that involve judgements with respect to, among other 
things, future national and regional economic and competitive conditions, technological 
developments, inflation rates, regulatory treatments, weather conditions, financial market 
conditions, future business decisions and other uncertainties. No assurance can be given that the 
estimated cost savings will actually be realized.  

The merger, which is conditioned upon, among other things, receipt of certain regulatory and 
governmental approvals, is expected to close by the end of the third quarter of 1997. As part of 
this approval process, management has proposed rate freezes to be implemented in certain 
jurisdictions for periods not to exceed four years. See Note 2 of "Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements" for additional information regarding the proposed merger.  

1996 COMPARED WITH 1995 

The Company reported consolidated net income from continuing operations of $73.2 million or 
$2.38 per share for 1996, as compared to $71.6 million or $2.33 per share for 1995. Earnings per 
share for 1996 and 1995 were $2.34 and $1.90, respectively, reflecting the impact of the 
discontinued operations of A&C Enercom Consultants, Inc. (A&C) which is discussed in Note 12 of 
"Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements".  

The increase in earnings in 1996 primarily reflects the operations of the Company's utility 
subsidiary, Wisconsin Power and Light Company (WP&L). Continued customer growth in the 
service territory and increased power marketing activity contributed to a $9 million increase in 
electric margin in 1996 as compared with 1995. Gas margins also increased due primarily to 
higher weather-driven sales. (See "Electric Operations" and "Gas Operations" below). In addition, a 
$3.4 million after-tax gain on the sale of a combustion turbine was recognized during 1996. These 
events were partially offset by higher plant maintenance and depreciation expenses in 1996.  

Heartland Development Corporation (HDC), parent company of the Company's nonregulated 
operations, reported a loss from continuing operations of $3.5 million for 1996 compared with a 
loss from continuing operations of $1.5 million for 1995. HDC's 1996 results were adversely 
impacted by contract losses early in 1996 associated with the start-up of the energy service 
business as well as a softening market for the environmental service business. Partially offsetting 
these losses was an after-tax gain of $2.5 million in 1996, related to the sale of HDC's investment 
in assisted living properties.  

During 1996, the Company incurred $3.2 million in expenses associated with its proposed 
merger with IES and IPC. See Note 2 of "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for 
additional information.  

The Company also recognized a 1996 after-tax loss of $1.3 million resulting from additional fees 
and expenses related to the discontinued operations of A&C which is discussed in Note 12 of 
"Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements".



Electric Operations 
Revenues and Costs

Residential 
and Farm 

Industrial 
Commercial 
Sales to Other 

Utilities 
Other 

Total 
Electric 
Production Fuels 

Purchased Power 
Margin

kWhs Sold Customers at
(In Thousands) Change (In Thousands) Change Year End Change 

1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 

$201,690 $199,850 1% 2,979,826 2,937,825 1% 336,933 329,643 2% 
143,734 140,562 2% 3,985,672 3,872,520 3% 815 795 3% 
105,319 102,129 3% 1,814,324 1,773,406 2% 45,669 44,730 2% 

131,836 97,350 35% 5,245,812 3,109,385 69% 90 48 88% 
6,903 6,433 7% 57,757 54,042 7% 1,730 1,294 34% 

589,482 546,324 8% 14,083,391 11,747,178 20% 385,237 376,510 2%

114,470 116,488 
81,108 44,940 

$393,904 $384,896

(2%) 
80% 

2%

Electric margin increased $9.0 million, or 2 percent, during 1996 compared with 1995 primarily 
due to higher sales to commercial and industrial customers as well as other utilities combined with 
reduced costs per kWh for electric production fuels and purchased power. Although fuel and 
purchased power costs declined on a per kWh basis, purchased power expense increased by 80 
percent. This increase was due to WP&L's higher level of sales to other utilities as well as a $5.0 
million increase in purchased power related to the purchase of replacement power during the 
extended 1996 refueling outage at the Kewaunee Nuclear Power Plant (Kewaunee). See "Capital 
Requirements" section below. Partially offsetting increased purchased power costs were slightly 
lower delivered coal and nuclear fuel costs per kWh.

Gas Operation 

Residential 
Commercial 

and Industrial 
Interruptible 
Transportation 

and other 
Total 

Purchased Gas 
Margin

s 
Revenues and Costs 

(In Thousands) Change
Therms Sold 

(In Thousands) Change
Customers at 

Year End
1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 

$90,382 $70,382 28% 142,974 126,903 13% 133,580 129,576 3% 

50,270 39,456 27% 98,095 91,316 7% 16,309 15,976 2% 
5,261 3,708 42% 13,480 12,148 11% 303 257 18% 

19,714 25,619 (23%) 185,735 169,121 10% 252 284 (11%) 
165,627 139,165 19% 440,284 399,488 10% 150,444 146,093 3%
104,830 84,002 25% 
60,797 $55,163 10%

Gas margin increased $5.6 million, or 10 percent, during 1996 compared with 1995 primarily as a 
result of higher sales. Therm sales increased 10 percent due to a combination of colder weather 
during the first five months of 1996 as compared to 1995 and customer growth of 3 percent. The 
19 percent increase in gas revenues reflects not only the higher therm sales but also the pass 
through of higher natural gas costs to WP&L's customers as described below.  

Effective January 1, 1995, the Wisconsin Public Service Commission (PSCW) approved the 
replacement of the purchased gas adjustment clause with an adjustment mechanism based on a 
prescribed commodity price index. Fluctuations in WP&L's commodity cost of gas as compared to 
the price index are subject to a customer sharing mechanism with WP&L's gains or losses limited 
to $1.1 million. Due to favorable gas procurement activities in both 1996 and 1995, WP&L realized 
favorable contributions to gas margin in those years of $1.1 million and $0.8 million, respectively.

.26

Change



Fees, Rents, Non-Utility Energy Sales and Other Revenues 
Fees, rents, non-utility energy sales and other revenues primarily reflect sales and revenues of the 
Company's nonregulated subsidiaries, consolidated under HDC, as adjusted for discontinued 
operations. Revenues of the principal businesses of HDC were as follows: 

1996 1995 

Environmental and engineering services ....... .$84.8 $88.6 
Energy marketing..........................73.8 12.6 
O ther.................................. 14.9 16.4 

$173.5 $117.6 

Energy marketing revenues were higher due to an increase in the volume of electric power and 
natural gas sales by the energy marketing subsidiary. The subsidiary meets these sales 
commitments through spot market purchases and short-term purchase contracts. (See "Other 
Operation and Cost of Non-Utility Energy.") Revenues at the environmental and engineering 
business were lower in 1996 due to a softening market for environmental services.  

In addition to the revenues of the nonregulated businesses, other revenues also include the water 
operations of WP&L. These revenues were $4.2 million in both 1996 and 1995.  

Other Operation and Cost of Non-Utility Energy 
Other operation and cost of non-utility energy expense includes expenses related to WP&L, the 
parent company and the nonregulated businesses of HDC. The distribution of other operations 
expense was as follows: 

1996 1995 

Utility operations........................ $141.9 $139.9 
Non-regulated businesses 

and parent company operations............. 177.2 113.4 
$319.1 $253.3 

The increase in operations expense associated with the nonregulated businesses is primarily a 
result of increased volume at the energy marketing subsidiary. Several commitments made in early 
1996 resulted in substantial losses. On a comparative basis, the non-utility energy marketing 
business incurred net losses of 17 cents per share in 1996 and 3 cents per share in 1995.  

The environmental and engineering services business also incurred higher contract related costs 
which were partially offset by labor and benefit savings. The environmental and engineering 
services business lost 4 cents per share in 1996 as compared to a 7 cent per share contribution 
in 1995.  

Operating expenses in the affordable housing business were significantly reduced in 1996 as 
operations support was outsourced and development activity was curtailed. After adjusting for the 
tax benefits and credits associated with this business, the affordable housing business contributed 
approximately 8 cents per share in 1996 including 2 cents per share related to the sale of two 
properties. In 1995, the affordable housing business contributed 4 cents per share.  

Maintenance 
Maintenance expense increased due to higher plant maintenance and the extended 1996 refueling 
outage at Kewaunee (See "Capital Requirements" section below).  

Depreciation and Amortization 
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $4.4 million as a result of property additions and 
greater amortization of contributions in aid of construction (a reduction of expense) in 1995.  

Interest Expense and Other 
The $9.1 million increase in other income is the result of two significant gains recognized in 1996.  
The sale of a combustion turbine by WP&L resulted in other income of $5.7 million. In addition, 
HDC recognized a gain of $4.2 million on the sale of its investment in assisted living properties.  
Interest expense was lower in 1996 as compared to 1995 as a result of less short-term debt 
outstanding and a slight decrease in interest rates.
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Income Taxes 
Income taxes increased for 1996 as a result of higher taxable income. The effective tax rate on 
continuing operations was 35.4 percent and 32.5 percent for 1996 and 1995, respectively. The 
lower rate in 1995 was the result of prior years' tax contingencies resolved favorably in 1995 and 
increased non-deductible merger expenses in 1996.  

1995 COMPARED WITH 1994 

Earnings per share decreased to $1.90 in 1995 from $2.13 in 1994 reflecting the 43-cent impact 
of discontinued operations arising from the sale of A&C, which is discussed in Note 12 of "Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements." Earnings per share from continuing operations increased to 
$2.33 in 1995 as compared to $2.17 in 1994, after reflecting a restatement of the prior year for 
discontinued operations.  

The 16-cent increase per share from continuing operations reflects the impact of two non-recurring 
items in 1994 as well as higher earnings in 1995 at WP&L. The higher earnings at WP&L were 
primarily the result of higher electric and gas margins (see "Electric Operations" and "Gas 
Operations" below) and aggressive cost management.  

The two non-recurring items affecting net income for 1994 were the reversal of a coal contract 
penalty and costs associated with early retirement and severance programs. The coal contract 
item relates to a Wisconsin Supreme Court decision which reversed a coal contract penalty 
assessed against WP&L in 1989. The following break out presents the recurring aspects of 1995 
and 1994 operations.  

1995 1994 

Earnings per share, as reported .............. $1.90 $2.13 
Per share impact of discontinued operations ..... .0.43 0.04 
Earnings per share from continuing operations ... 2.33 2.17 
Significant non-recurring items: 

Coal contract penalty reversal.............. --- (0.16) 
Early retirement and severance costs ........ --- 0.27 

Earnings per share from continuing operations 
before non-recurring items................. .$2.33 $2.28 

HDC reported a loss from continuing operations of $1.5 million in 1995 and a gain of $0.1 million 
in 1994. The decline in earnings is primarily the result of higher interest expense and new business 
development costs.

Electric Operations 
Revenues and Costs

Residential 
and Farm 

Industrial 
Commercial 
Sales toOther 

Utilities 
Other 

Total 
Electric 

Production Fuel 
Purchased Power 

Margin

kWhs Sold Customers at
(In Thousands) Change (In Thousands) Change Year End Change 

1995 1994 1995 1994 1995 1994 

$199,850 $194,242 3% 2,937,825 2,776,895 6% 329,643 322,924 2% 
140,562 140,487 0% 3,872,520 3,764,953 3% 795 776 2% 
102,129 101,382 1% 1,773,406 1,688,349 5% 44,730 43,793 2% 

97,350 86,400 13% 3,109,385 2,574,121 21% 48 42 14% 
6,433 9,236 (30%) 54,042 54,518 (1%) 1,294 1,256 3% 

546,324 531,747 3% 11,747,178 10,858,836 8% 376,510 368,791 2%

s 116,488 123,469 
44,940 37,913 

$384,896 $370,365

(6%) 
16% 

4%
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Electric margin increased 4 percent during 1995 compared with 1994 primarily due to higher sales 
combined with reduced aggregate costs per kWh for electric production fuels and purchased 
power. Kilowatthour sales increased 8 percent due to a much warmer summer than normal, 
increased sales to other utilities, a 2 percent growth in customers, and continued economic 
strength in the service territory. Partially offsetting these sales increases was a 2.8 percent 
decrease in retail electric rates effective January 1, 1995.  

A record setting heat wave resulted in WP&L setting a system peak of 2,197 megawatts on July 
31, 1995. This reflects a 9.7 percent increase over the previous record system peak of 2,002 
megawatts set in 1994.  

While overall kWh sales increased, the aggregate costs of electric production fuels and purchased 
power remained relatively unchanged. The stability of these costs reflects lower coal and 
transportation costs at WP&L's generating units in 1995 as well as the availability of attractive 
purchased power opportunities in the bulk power market.

Gas Operations 
Revenues and Costs

Residential 
Commercial 

and Industrial 
Interruptible 
Transportation 

and other 
Total

Purchasec 
Margin

Therms Sold Customers at
(In Thousands) Change (In Thousands) Change Year End Change 

1995 1994 1995 1994 1995 1994 
$70,382 $71,555 (2%) 126,903 119,562 6% 129,576 124,938 4% 

39,456 41,918 (6%) 91,316 87,487 4% 15,976 15,531 3% 
3,708 8,777 (58%) 12,148 24,809 (51%) 257 272 (6%) 

25,619 29,681 (14%) 169,121 142,252 19% 284 240 18% 
139,165 151,931 (8%) 399,488 374,110 7% 146,093 140,981 4%

Gas 84,002 100,942 (17%) 
$55,163 $50,989 8% 

Gas margin increased 8 percent during 1995 compared with 1994 primarily as a result of higher 
sales volumes and favorable gas procurement strategies. Therm sales increased 7 percent 
principally due to residential customer growth reflecting the favorable economic conditions in 
WP&L's service territory and colder than normal weather in the fourth quarter, offsetting a mild 
January and February. The 8 percent decrease in gas revenues was the result of a pass through to 
customers of the lower cost of purchased gas. Under the rate structure, as discussed previously, 
reductions in revenues resulting solely from such pass through would not be expected to have a 
material impact on earnings. The gas incentive program authorized by the PSCW also resulted in 
additional pre-tax earnings of $0.8 million in 1995.  

Fees, Rents, Non-Utility Energy Sales and Other Revenues 
Fees, rents, non-utility energy sales and other revenues primarily reflect sales and revenues of the 
Company's nonregulated subsidiaries, consolidated under HDC, as adjusted for discontinued 
operations. Revenues of the principal businesses of HDC were as follows: 

1995 1994 

Environmental and engineering services ........ $88.6 $87.7 
Energy marketing..........................12.6 2.0 
O ther................................... 16.4 18.2 

$117.6 $107.9 

While revenues of the environmental and engineering services business were relatively unchanged, 
margins were lower in 1995 reflecting greater price competition in that industry. Energy marketing 
revenues increased due to the development of power marketing activities and increased gas 
transactions in 1995. Due to uncertainties as to the future of the affordable housing tax credit 
program, HDC discontinued making additional commitments in this area in 1995.  

In addition to the revenues of the nonregulated businesses, other revenues also include the water 
operations of WP&L. These revenues were $4.2 million and $4.1 million, respectively, in 1995 
and 1994.
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Other Operation and Cost of Non-Utility Energy 
Other operation and cost of non-utility energy expense includes expenses related to WP&L, the 
parent company and the nonregulated businesses of HDC. The distribution of operations expense 
was as follows: 

1995 1994 

Utility operations ........................ $139.9 $151.0 
Non-regulated businesses 

and parent company operations ............. 113.4 97.8 
$253.3 $248.8 

The decline in utility-related operations expense principally reflects the impact of a $13.7 million 
pre-tax charge for early retirement and severance costs in 1994. While WP&L was able to achieve 
savings in 1995 from its continued reengineering of operations, these savings were offset 
somewhat by higher conservation expenses.  

The increase in operations expense associated with the nonregulated businesses and parent 
company principally reflects higher costs at the energy marketing subsidiary. In addition, this 
business experienced additional administrative costs associated with new business development 
resulting in an operating loss in 1995 of 3 cents per share and in 1994 of 2 cents per share.  

The environmental and engineering services business also incurred higher operations costs in 
1995. However, as a result of realigning its business in 1995 through the sale of selected 
operations, as discussed in the "Interest Expense and Other" section below, the environmental and 
engineering services business was able to maintain a 7 cent per share contribution to earnings in 
both 1995 and 1994.  

Operating expenses exceeded operating revenue in the affordable housing business, however, after 
adjusting for the tax benefits and credits associated with this business, the affordable housing 
business contributed approximately 4 cents per share in 1995 and 3 cents per share in 1994.  

Depreciation and Amortization 
The increase in depreciation and amortization expense in 1995 is primarily the result of property 
additions at WP&L.  

Interest Expense and Other 
Interest expense increased due to the higher levels of short-term debt and higher short-term 
interest rates. During the second quarter of 1995, WP&L repurchased $18 million of Series V bonds 
from private investors. WP&L used short-term debt to acquire the Series V bonds. WP&L applied 
revenue requirement neutral accounting treatment to these acquired bonds consistent with 
regulatory requirements.  

Interest expense and other in 1994 also includes pre-tax income of $8.8 million related to a 
Wisconsin Supreme Court decision which reversed a coal contract penalty assessed against WP&L 
in 1989. In addition, income associated with the allowance for funds used during construction 
(AFUDC) decreased in 1995 due to significantly lower construction work-in-progress amounts and 
a lower Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) AFUDC rate.  

Interest expense and other also includes $2.2 million associated with the gain on the sale of 
various investments and environmental consulting divisions in 1995 by HDC.  

Income Taxes 
Despite higher operating income in 1995, the income tax expense was unchanged due to prior 
years' tax contingencies favorably resolved in 1995. The effective income tax rate on continuing 
operations was 32.5 percent and 34.1 percent for 1995 and 1994, respectively.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company's liquidity is primarily determined by the level of cash generated from its utility 
operations and the funding requirements of WP&L's ongoing construction and maintenance 
programs. WP&L finances its construction expenditures through internally generated funds 
supplemented, when required, by outside financing.  

During 1996, 1995 and 1994, the Company generated sufficient cash flows from operations, the 
sale of other property and equipment and short-term borrowing to cover operating expenses, cash 
dividends and investing activities. Cash flows from operations increased to $191 million for 1996, 
compared with $186 million and $168 million in 1995 and 1994, respectively. The decrease in 
cash flows used for investing activities was primarily attributable to $36.3 million received from the 
sale of a combustion turbine by WP&L as well as $24.9 million from the sale of a subsidiary and 
investment at HDC.  

Rates and Regulatory Matters 
Effective January 1, 1995, for the two-year period ended December 31, 1996, the PSCW, in rate 
order GR-109, authorized a 2.8 percent annual decrease in electric rates, a 0.5 percent annual 
increase in gas rates and a decline in the allowed return on common equity to 11.5 percent from 
the previous 11.6 percent . None of these events are expected to have a material impact on 
earnings. See Note IJ of the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for additional 
information. WP&L submitted its biennial rate case filing with the PSCW on April 1, 1996, for the 
test year beginning January 1, 1997. In the filing WP&L requested rate increases of $13.4 million 
or 3.0 percent for Wisconsin retail electric customers and $2.4 million or 1.6 percent for Wisconsin 
natural gas customers. This request was based on an 11.9 percent return on common equity.  
Technical hearings were completed in November 1996. WP&L filed additional testimony 
subsequent to the conclusion of the November 1996 hearings regarding recovery of replacement 
power and operations and maintenance expenses for the extended outage at Kewaunee. Because 
of this additional filing, a final rate order is not expected until April 1997.  

Industry Outlook 
The primary business of the Company is that of WP&L, which is subject to regulation by the PSCW 
and the FERC. The PSCW's inquiries into the future structure of the natural gas and electric utility 
industries are ongoing. The stated goal of the PSCW in the natural gas docket is to move all gas 
supply activities out of the existing regulated distribution utilities and allow independent units to 
compete for the business. The goal of the electric restructuring process is to create open access 
transmission and distribution services for all customers with competitive generation and customer 
service markets. Additional proceedings as well as consultation with the legislature are planned 
prior to a target implementation date after the year 2000. The Company cannot currently predict 
what impact, if any, these proceedings may have on its future financial condition or results of 
operations. The Company believes, however, that it is well positioned to compete in a deregulated 
environment. WP&L's rates to all customer classes are competitive within the state of Wisconsin 
and below the average in the Midwest region.  

On April 24, 1996, the FERC issued orders (No. 888 and 889) that will promote competition by 
opening access to the nation's wholesale power market. The new orders require public utilities that 
own, control or operate transmission systems to provide other companies with the same 
transmission access/service that they provide to themselves. The Company presently has on file 
with the FERC a pro forma open access transmission tariff, filed in compliance with FERC Order 
No. 888. On November 13, 1996, the FERC accepted the non-rate terms and conditions of 
WP&L's tariff for filing without modification. On September 20, 1996, the FERC extended the 
deadline for compliance with Order No. 889 to January 3, 1997, which was met by WP&L through 
participation in a regional Open Access Same-Time Information System.
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On September 26, 1996, the PSCW issued an order which establishes the minimum Standards for 
a Wisconsin Independent System Operator (Standards). The Standards will be applied by the 
PSCW in Advance Plan proceedings, merger review cases, transmission construction cases and 
other proceedings as appropriate. The order provides that the Standards will be reviewed and 
revised as necessary in light of ongoing regional and national events, such as FERC requirements 
or policy, regional institutions, or relevant actions of neighboring states.  

On November 18, 1996, WP&L submitted applications and subsequently became a member of 
both the Mid-Continent Area Power Pool (MAPP) Regional Transmission Group (RTG) and the 
Power and Energy Market. WP&L declined membership in the MAPP Regional Reliability Council 
and will continue its membership in the Mid-American Interconnected Network, Inc. (MAIN) 
through 1997.  

As described in Note IlH of the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements," WP&L complies with 
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS No. 71) " Accounting for the 
Effects of Certain Types of Regulation." In the event WP&L determines that it no longer meets the 
criteria for following SFAS 71, the accounting impact would be an extraordinary, non-cash charge 
to operations of an amount that could be material. Criteria that give rise to the discontinuance of 
SFAS 71 include (1) increasing competition that restricts WP&L's ability to establish prices to 
recover specific costs and (2) a significant change in the manner in which rates are set by 
regulators from cost-based regulation to another form of regulation. WP&L periodically reviews 
these criteria to ensure that the continuing application of SFAS 71 is appropriate. WP&L believes 
that it still meets the requirements of SFAS 71.  

Financing and Capital Structure 
The level of short-term borrowing fluctuates based on seasonal corporate needs, the timing of 
long-term financing, and capital market conditions. The Company's operating subsidiaries 
generally borrow on a short-term basis to provide interim financing of construction and capital 
expenditures in excess of available internally generated funds. The subsidiaries periodically reduce 
their outstanding short-term borrowing through the issuance of long-term debt and through the 
Company's additional investment in their common equity. To maintain flexibility in its capital 
structure and to take advantage of favorable short-term rates, the Company also uses proceeds 
from the sales of accounts receivable and unbilled revenues to finance a portion of its long-term 
cash needs. The Company also anticipates that short-term debt funds will continue to be available 
at reasonable costs due to strong ratings by independent utility analysts and rating services.  
Commercial paper has been rated A-1+ by Standard & Poor's Corp. and P-I by Moody's Investors 
Service. The Company's bank lines of credit of $120 million at December 31, 1996 are available 
to support these borrowings.  

The Company has only limited involvement with derivative financial instruments and does not use 
them for trading purposes. They are used to manage well-defined interest rate and commodity 
price risks. The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of 
changes in interest rates on its floating-rate long-term debt, short-term debt and the sales of its 
accounts receivable. The total notional amount of interest rate swaps was $89 million and $123 
million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995. The Company uses 
swaps, futures and options to hedge the price risks associated with the purchase and sale of stored 
gas at WP&L and with the purchases and sales of gas and electric power at the energy marketing 
subsidiary.  

The Company's capitalization at December 31, 1996, including the current maturities of long-term 
debt, variable rate demand bonds and short-term debt, consisted of 48 percent common equity, 5 
percent preferred stock and 47 percent debt. The common equity to total capitalization ratio at 
December 31, 1996, increased to 48 percent from 47 percent at December 31, 1995.  

The retail rate order effective January 1, 1995, requires WP&L to maintain a utility common equity 
level of 51.93 percent of total utility capitalization. In addition, the PSCW ordered that it must 
approve the payment of dividends by WP&L to the Company if such dividends would reduce 
WP&L's average common equity ratio below 51.93 percent. At December 31, 1996, WP&L's 
common equity ratio was 53.5 percent.
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In'accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement (see note 2 of "Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements"), the Company may not declare or pay any dividends on any of its capital 
stock other than the obligations that exist with respect to cumulative preferred stock, and regular 
quarterly dividends on common stock provided they do not exceed 105 percent of the common 
stock dividends from the prior year.  

Capital Requirements 
The Company's largest subsidiary, WP&L, is a capital-intensive business and requires large 
investments in long-lived assets. Therefore, the Company's most significant capital requirements 
relate to construction expenditures at WP&L. Estimated capital requirements for the next five years 
are as follows:

Construction expenditures 
Electric 
Gas, water and common 
Nuclear fuel 
AFJDC 

Total construction expenditures 
Changes in working capital and other 

Total construction and operating capital 
Long-term debt maturities 
Manufactured gas plant remediation 

Total capital requirements

Capital Requirements 
(in millions) 

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 

$88.7 $89.2 $89.9 $90.6 $91.3 
45.0 43.8 44.3 44.7 45.2 
11.4 6.8 9.4 11.4 6.1 
2.1 2.1 2.1 2.1 2.1 

147.2 141.9 145.7 148.8 144.7 
22.6 16.8 (5.4) 13.9 13.6 

169.8 158.7 140.3 162.7 158.3 
55.0 8.9 0.0 1.9 0.0 

5.0 1.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 
229.8 $168.6 $140.8 $165.1 $158.8

Included in the construction expenditure estimates, in addition to recurring additions and 
improvements to the distribution and transmission systems, are expenditures related to upgrading 
computer systems in order to improve productivity and customer service. Electric expenditures 
include the annual contribution to external trust funds to fund the decommissioning of Kewaunee.  

WP&L has a 41 percent ownership interest in Kewaunee. During a scheduled refueling and 
maintenance outage of the plant in September 1996, steam generator tube degradation was 
discovered which required that the tubes be repaired before the plant could resume operation. A 
laser weld repair process was implemented to address the problem. During testing of the success 
of this process in early February 1997, it was discovered that further repair work or tube plugging 
would be required for a portion of the welded tubes. Further investigation is ongoing which may 
delay the return of the plant to service beyond the first quarter of 1997.  

WP&L's costs associated with these tube repairs are estimated at $2.3 million of which $1.4 
million was expensed in 1996. Additional costs associated with the purchase of replacement 
power, estimated at approximately $500,000 per week, were not recoverable from customers 
under the retail rate order in effect at the time of the outage. However, if the outage were to extend 
beyond the implementation of a PSCW rate order expected to be issued in April 1997, 
replacement power costs incurred subsequent to that order are expected to be recovered through 
a surcharge mechanism.  

Repairs using laser technology may be only temporary because corrosion will continue at a rate 
which cannot be accurately forecasted. Because of these uncertainties, the PSCW, on January 3, 
1997, approved accelerated cost recovery of the remaining depreciation costs and unfunded 
decommissioning liability based on an expected end of plant life of 2002 rather than the currently 
licensed end of life of 2013. The accelerated depreciation and decommissioning expense will be 
incorporated with the retail rate order expected to be issued in April 1997. Based on a 1992 site 
specific study, WP&L's share of the costs to decommission Kewaunee was estimated at $142 
million. Assuming an annual inflation rate of 6.5 percent, WP&L's liability in current year dollars is 
approximately $180 million. As of December 31, 1996, $90.7 million, net of tax, was available in 
external trust funds to meet this liability. See Note 11 of the "Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements" for additional information.
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Currently, the owners of Kewaunee have different views of the future market value of eriergy which 
impact on the desirability of replacing the steam generators. During the first quarter of 1996, 
Wisconsin Public Service Corporation filed an application with the PSCW seeking approval to 
replace the steam generators in 1999. The total cost of the generator replacement would be 
approximately $89 million. A PSCW decision on this application is expected in October 1997. In 
addition, the joint owners continue to analyze and discuss other options related to the future of 
Kewaunee including various ownership transfer alternatives. If it should become necessary to retire 
Kewaunee permanently, WP&L would replace the Kewaunee generation through a combination of 
power purchases, increased generation at existing WP&L generating units and new generating unit 
additions, if necessary.  

The net book value of WP&L's share of Kewaunee as of December 31, 1996, was $51.4 million, 
excluding the value of nuclear fuel.  

Certain matters discussed concerning Kewaunee are forward-looking statements and can generally 
be identified as such because the content of the statement include the phrase "the Company 
expects," or other words of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe the Company's 
future plans, objectives and goals are also forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking 
statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results and 
outcomes to differ materially from those currently anticipated. In addition to the matters discussed 
above other factors that could affect actual results or outcomes include the timing and the nature 
of regulatory responses and approvals, technological developments and advancements regarding 
repair of the steam generator tubes, the useful life of the repairs effected, and the cost of 
purchased electric power or additional generating facilities to replace the power generated by 
Kewaunee.  

The staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission also has questioned certain of the current 
accounting practices of the electric utility industry, including the Company, regarding the 
recognition, measurement and classification of decommissioning costs for nuclear generating 
stations in financial statements of electric utilities. In response to these questions, the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has decided to review the accounting for closure and removal 
costs, including decommissioning of nuclear power plants.  

Capital requirements for HDC, generally consist of funds used for business acquisition activity and 
to provide for changes in working capital for the operations of existing businesses. In addition to 
those items mentioned above, requirements at HDC over the next five years are expected to 
emphasize growth in the energy and environmental services businesses through additional 
investments in joint ventures and acquisitions.  

Capital Resources 
One of the Company's objectives is to finance utility construction expenditures through WP&L's 
internally generated funds supplemented, when required, by outside financing. With this objective 
in place, WP&L has financed 71 percent of its construction expenditures during 1996 from internal 
sources. However, during the next five years, the Company expects this percentage to increase 
primarily due relatively stable levels of construction expenditures and higher depreciation rates 
beginning in 1997. External financing sources such as the issuance of long-term debt and 
short-term borrowings will be used by WP&L to finance the remaining construction expenditure 
requirements for this period. Expectations are that approximately $105 million of long-term debt 
will be issued in 1997. HDC's financing of capital requirements will be accomplished through 
internally generated funds, supplemented by external borrowings and equity contributions from 
the Company.  

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT 

In June 1996, the FASB issued SFAS No. 125, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of 
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities," which establishes standards for asset and 
liability recognition when transfers occur. This statement, effective January 1, 1997, is not 
expected to materially impact the Company's financial position or results of operations.
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Effective January 1, 1997, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Position (SOP) 
96-1, "Environmental Remediation Liabilities." This Statement provides authoritative guidance for 
recognition, measurement, display and disclosure of environmental remediation liabilities in 
financial statements. The Company has recorded environmental remediation liabilities of $74.1 
million at December 31, 1996. Adoption of SOP 96-1 is not expected to have a material impact on 
the Company's financial position or results of operations.  

INFLATION 

The impacts of inflation on WP&L are currently mitigated through ratemaking methodologies, 
customer growth and productivity improvements. Inflationary impacts on the nonregulated 
businesses are not anticipated to be material to the Company.  

OTHER EVENTS 

Union Contract 

WP&L and the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 965, reached agreement on a 
new three-year collective bargaining contract on June 14, 1996. The new agreement includes 
increases in the base wage during the first, second and third years of the contract of 3 percent, 3 
percent and 3.25 percent, respectively. The new agreement was effective retroactive to June 1, 
1996, with wages retroactive to May 26, 1996, which was the beginning of a pay period. At the 
end of 1996, the contract covered 1,617 of WP&L's employees which represents approximately 69 
percent of the total employees at WP&L.  

Sale of Business Segment 

The Company's financial statements reflect the discontinuance of operations of A&C its former 
utility energy and marketing consulting business in 1995. See Note 12 of "Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements" for additional information.  

Environmental 

WP&L cannot precisely forecast the effect of future environmental regulations by federal, state and 
local authorities on its generation, transmission and other facilities, or its operations, but has taken 
steps to anticipate the future while meeting the requirements of current environmental regulations.  
The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1977 and subsequent amendments to the Clean Air Act, as well 
as the new laws affecting the handling and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes, could affect the 
siting, construction and operating costs of both present and future generating units.  

Under the Federal Clean Water Act, National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permits for 
generating station discharge into water ways are required to be obtained from the Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources (DNR) to which the permit program has been delegated. These 
permits must be periodically reviewed. WP&L has obtained such permits for all of its generating 
stations or has filed timely applications for renewals of such permits.  

Air quality regulations promulgated by the DNR in accordance with federal standards impose 
statewide restrictions on the emission of particulates, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and other air 
pollutants and require permits from the DNR for the operation of emission sources. WP&L currently 
has the necessary permits to operate its generating facilities. While periodic exceedances in air 
emissions may occur, management promptly acts on them and works with the DNR to resolve any 
permit compliance issues. With the passage of the new Federal Clean Air Act Amendments, the 
state is required to include these provisions in its permit requirements. WP&L has submitted Title V 
permit applications in compliance with schedules set forth by the regulators. WP&L has also 
completed application for Phase II permits under the Clean Air Act in compliance with the time 
lines identified. The state Title V operating permits, when issued, will consolidate all existing air 
permit conditions and regulatory requirements into one permit for each facility. Permits have been 
or are expected to be issued in 1997. Until such time, the facilities will continue to operate under 
their existing permit conditions.
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WP&L's compliance strategy for Wisconsin's sulfur dioxide law (discussed above) and the Federal 
Clean Air Act Amendments required plant upgrades at its generating facilities. The majority of 
these projects were completed in 1993. WP&L has installed continuous emission monitoring 
systems at all of its coal fired boilers in compliance with federal requirements. Monitoring for sulfur 
dioxide was also required by Title IV of the Federal Clean Air Act at WP&L's South Fond du Lac, 
Wis., combustion-turbine site. These requirements were also met. Additional monitoring systems 
for nitrogen oxides were required in 1996 at the combustion turbine site. WP&L has installed these 
monitors, and completed certification tests for the equipment. No significant additional investments 
are anticipated at this time to meet the requirements of the Federal Clean Air Act Amendments.  

For a discussion of the Company's liability regarding environmental remediation at certain 
manufactured gas plant sites formerly operated by WP&L, see Note 11 of "Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements." 

Dividend Declaration 

On January 22, 1997, the Board of Directors of the Company declared a quarterly dividend on 
common stock. The dividend is 50 cents per share payable February 15 to shareowners of record 
on January 31, 1997.  

Selected Consolidated Quarterly Financial Data ((Unaudited) 

The summarized quarterly financial data below were not audited by independent public 
accountants, but reflect all adjustments necessary, in the opinion of the Company, for a fair 
presentation of the data. The quarterly amounts can be affected by seasonal weather conditions.  
Refer to MD&A for a discussion of the impacts of weather.  

Operating Operating Net Earnings 
Revenues Income Income per Share 

Quarter Ended (in thousands except per share data) 

1996: 
March 31 $260,877 $54,162 $31,680 $1.03 
June 30 208,293 31,127 16,539 0.54 
September 30 212,263 28,867 12,596 0.41 
December 31 251,411 27,348 11,093 0.36 

1995: 
March 31 $215,874 $44,701 $19,653 $0.64 
June 30 175,990 21,427 6,939 0.23 
September 30 196,131 41,923 20,709 0.67 
December 31 219,260 37,947 11,131 0.36
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION 

WPL Holdings, Inc. management is responsible 
for all the information appearing in this annual 
report and for the accuracy and internal 
consistency of that information. The 
consolidated financial statements that follow 
have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. In 
addition to selecting appropriate accounting 
principles, management is responsible for the 
manner of presentation and for the reliability of 
the financial information. In fulfilling that 
responsibility, it is necessary for management 
to make estimates based on currently available 
information and judgments of current 
conditions and circumstances.  

Through a well-developed system of internal 
controls, management seeks to ensure the 
integrity and objectivity of the financial 
information presented in this report. This 
system of internal control is designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that the assets 
of the company are safeguarded and that the 
transactions are executed according to 
management's authorizations and are recorded 
in accordance with the appropriate 
accounting principles.  

The Board of Directors participates in the 
financial information reporting process through 
its Audit Committee.  

Erroll B. Davis Jr.  
President and Chief Executive Officer 
WPL Holdings, Inc.  

Edward M. Gleason 
Vice President, Treasurer and Corporate 
Secretary 
Principal Financial Officer 
WPL Holdings, Inc.  

January 30, 1997

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Shareowners of WPL Holdings, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets and statements of 
capitalization of WPL Holdings, Inc. (a 
Wisconsin corporation) and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, common 
shareowners' investment and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 1996. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the 
Company's management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of WPL 
Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 
31, 1996 and 1995, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 
1996, in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP 

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
January 30, 1997
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WPL HOLDINGS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

Operating revenues: 
E lectric ......................................  
G as . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Fees, rents, non-utility energy sales and other .........  

Operating expenses: 
Electric production fuels .........................  
Purchased power..............................  
Purchased gas................................  
Other operation and cost of non-utility energy.........  
Maintenance..................................  
Depreciation and amortization.....................  
Taxes other than income.........................  

Operating income ...............................  

Interest expense and other: 
Interest expense ................................  
Allowance for funds used during construction ..........  
O ther. . .. . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. ... .. .. . .. . ..  

Income from continuing operations before income taxes ...  
Income taxes ..................................  
Preferred dividend requirement of subsidiary ...........  
Income from continuing operations ..................  

Discontinued operations: 
Loss from operation of discontinued subsidiary, 

net of applicable tax benefits of $1,451 and $632.....  
Loss on disposal of subsidiary, net of applicable tax 

benefit of $575 and tax expense of $3,271 ..........  

Net income....................................  

Earnings per share: 
Income from continuing operations ..................  
Discontinued operations ..........................  
N et incom e ...................................  

Weighted average number of shares 
of common stock outstanding ....................  

Cash dividends paid per share......................

1996
Year Ended December 31, 

1995 1994
(in thousands except for per share data)

$589,482 
165,627 
177.735

$546,324 
139,165 
121 766

$531,747 
151,931

, 1 
932,844 807,255 795,717 

114,470 116,488 123,469 
81,108 44,940 37,913 

104,830 84,002 100,942 
319,154 253,277 248,847 
46,492 42,043 41,227 
90,683 86,319 80,351 
34,603 34,188 33,788 

791,340 661,257 666,537 

141,504 145,998 129,180 

42,027 43,559 37,686 
(3,208) (2,088) (4,038) 

(15,644) (6,509) (10,245) 
23,175 34,962 23,403 

118,329 111,036 105,777 
41,814 36,108 36,043 
3,310 3,310 3,310 

73,205 71,618 66,424 

- 2,212 1,174 

1,297 10,974 
1,297 13,186 1,174 

$71,908 $58,432 $65,250 

$2.38 $2.33 $2.17 
(0.04) (0.43) (0.04) 
$2.34 $1.90 $2.13 

30,790 30,774 30,671 

$1.97 $1.94 $1.92

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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WPL HOLDINGS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS December 31,

1996 1995
(in thousands)

ASSETS 
Utility plant: 

Plant in service 
E lectric. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . .  
G as. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
W ater. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . .  
C om m on.....................................................  

Less-accumulated provision for depreciation............................  

Construction work in progress .......................................  
N uclear fuel, net .................................................  

Other property and equipment: 
Rental, net. .. ...... .... .. .. . . .. .. . .... .. ....... .......... .. .... .  
O ther, net... ....... .... .. .. . . .. . .. .... .. ....... .......... .. .... .  

Investments: 
Nuclear decommissioning trust funds ...................................  
O ther investm ents................................................  

Current assets: 
Cash and equivalents..............................................  
Net accounts receivable and unbilled revenue, less allowance for 

doubtful accounts of $1,524 and $1,735, respectively .....................  
Coal, at average cost..............................................  
Materials and supplies, at average cost.................................  
Gas in storage, at average cost.......................................  
Prepaym ents and other.............................................  

Restricted cash....................................................  

Deferred charges: 
Regulatory assets.................................................  
O ther. .. . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . .. . . . . . . . . . .

TOTAL ASSETS 

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES 
Capitalization (See Consolidated Statements of Capitalization): 

Common shareowners' investment .....................  
Subsidiary preferred stock not mandatorily redeemable ......  
Long-term debt, net................................  

Current liabilities: 
Current maturities of long-term debt ....................  
Variable rate demand bonds ...........................  
Short-term debt...................................  
Accounts payable and accruals ........................  
Accrued payroll and vacation. .........................  
Accrued taxes....................................  
Accrued interest...................................  
O ther........................ ...................  

Other credits: 
Accumulated deferred income taxes ....................  
Accumulated deferred investment tax credits .............  
Accrued environmental remediation costs ................  
Deferred credits and other ............................  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11) 
TOTAL CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

$1,729,311 $1,665,611
227,809 

23,905 
152,093 

2,133,118 
967,436 

1,165,682 
55,519 
19,368 

1,240,569

217,678 
22,518 

136,943 
2,042,750 

887,562 
1,155,188 

36,996 
18,867 

1,211,051

112,913 102,206 
16,350 42,563 

129,263 144,769 

90,671 73,357 
15,408 12,628 

106,079 85,985 

11,070 11,386 

88,798 94,648 
15,841 14,625 
19,915 20,723 
9,992 6,319 

26,786 27,987 
172,402 175,688 

6,848 3,266 

160,877 170,269 
84,493 81,386 

245,370 251,655 
$1,900,531 $1,872,414 

$607,355 $597,470 
59,963 59,963 

362,564 430,362 
1,029,882 1,087,795 

67,626 3,397 
56,975 56,975 

102,779 109,525 
106,486 94,898 
14,500 14,299 
4,669 6,483 
9,085 9,214 

45,218 26,783 
407,338 321,574 

245,686 241,150 
36,931 38,842 
74,075 76,852 

106,619 106,201 
463,311 463,045 

$1,900,531 $1,872,414

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements 3Y
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WPL HOLDINGS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Year Ended December 31, 

1996 1995 1994 
(in thousands)

Cash flows generated from (used for) operating activities: 
N et incom e............................................  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash generated from 

operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization ...........................  
Deferred incom e taxes.................................  
Investment tax credit restored ...........................  
Amortization of nuclear fuel .............................  
Allowance for equity funds used during construction ...........  
(Gain) loss on sale of subsidiary and investment..............  
(Gain) loss on sale of other property and equipment ...........  

Changes in assets and liabilities: 
Restricted cash ......................................  
Net accounts receivable and unbilled revenue................  
Inventories .........................................  
Prepayments and other ................................  
Accounts payable and accruals ..........................  
A ccrued taxes.......................................  
O ther, net ........... ... .... .......... ......... .....  
Net cash from (used for) operating activities................  

Cash flows generated from (used for) financing activities: 
Common stock cash dividends, less dividends reinvested .........  
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt ....................  
Reduction of long-term debt ...............................  
Net change in short-term debt.............................  
Other, net.............................................  

Net cash from (used for) financing activities .................  

Cash flows generated from (used for) investing activities: 
Proceeds from sale of other property and equipment .............  
Additions to utility plant, excluding AFUDC ....................  
Additions to nuclear fuel..................................  
Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction ..........  
Dedicated decommissioning trust funds ......................  
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary and investment ...............  
Purchase of other property and equipment....................  
Other, net............................................  

Net cash from (used for) investing activities ................  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents ................  
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year ......................  
Cash and equivalents at end of year ..........................  

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: 

Cash paid during the year: 
Interest on debt........................................  
Preferred stock dividends of subsidiary .......................  
Income taxes .........................................  

Non-cash financing activities: 
Dividends reinvested....................................

$71,908 $58,432 $65,250

90,683 
14,540 
(1,911) 
6,057 

(2,270) 
(4,149) 
(5,676) 

(3,582) 
5,850 

(4,081) 
1,201 

11,661 
(1,814) 
12,302

86,319 
10,716 
(1,916) 
7,787 

(1,425) 
10,974 

(49) 
(23,183) 

3,750 
2,292 

19,966 
88 

12,166

80,351 
12,299 
(1,926) 
6,707 

(3,009) 

3,495 
(3,842) 
1,057 

(7,028) 
(6,320) 
6,965 

13774, 
190,719 185,917 167,773 

(60,656) (59,701) (49,357) 
1,370 756 24,993 

(5,000) (18,000) 
(6,746) 45,024 (27,401) 
(1,367) 941 (1,064) 

(72,399) (30,980) (52,829) 

36,264 -

(120,732) (99,746) (119,272) 
(6,558) (7,258) (8,103) 

(938) (663) (1,029) 
(17,314) (21,566) (1,988) 
24,930 -

(20,824) (26,696) (13,127) 
(13,464) 5,105 16,380 

(118,636) (150,824) (127,139) 

(316) 4,113 (12,195) 
11,386 7,273 19,468 

$11,070 $11,386 $7,273

$35,855 
$3,310 

$39,795

$39,984 
$3,310 

$29,499

$36,914 
$3,310 

$22,902

- $9,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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WPL HOLDINGS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION December 31, 

1996 1995 
(in thousands except for share data)

Common shareowners' investment: 
Common stock $.01 par value, authorized 100,000,000 shares, 

issued and outstanding-30,773,735 and 30,773,588 shares, respectively 
Additional paid-in capital.....................................  
Reinvested earnings ........................................  

Preferred stock: 
Wisconsin Power and Light Company

Cumulative, without par value, authorized 3,750,000 shares, maximum 
aggregate stated value $150,000,000: 
Preferred stock without mandatory redemption, $100 stated value

4.50% series, 99,970 shares outstanding .......................  
4.80% series, 74,912 shares outstanding .......................  
4.96% series, 64,979 shares outstanding .......................  
4.40% series, 29,957 shares outstanding .......................  
4.76% series, 29,947 shares outstanding .......................  
6.20% series, 150,000 shares outstanding......................  

Cumulative, without par value, $25 stated value
6.50% series, 599,460 shares outstanding......................  

Long-term debt: 
Wisconsin Power and Light Company

First mortgage bonds: 
Series L, 6.25%, due 1998 ..................................  
1984 Series A, variable rate, due 2014 (4.60% at 12/31/96) .........  
1988 Series A, variable rate, due 2015 (4.25% at 12/31/96) .........  
1990 Series V, 9.3%, due 2025..............................  
1991 Series A, variable rate, due 2015 (5.00% at 12/31/96) .........  
1991 Series B, variable rate, due 2005 (5.00% at 12/31/96) .........  
1991 Series C, variable rate, due 2000 (5.00% at 12/31/96) .........  
1991 Series D, variable rate, due 2000 (5.00% at 12/31/96) .........  
1992 Series W, 8.6%, due 2027 ..............................  
1992 Series X, 7.75%, due 2004..............................  
1992 Series Y, 7.6%, due 2005...............................  
1992 Series Z, 6.125%, due 1997 .............................  

Heartland Development Corporation
Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds issued by various housing and 

community development authorities, due 2004-2024, 2.00% - 7.55% ...  
Other mortgage notes payable, due 1997-2042, 0% - 10.75% ..........  

WPL Holdings, Inc.
8.96% Senior notes, due 1997 .................................  
8.59% Senior notes, due 2004 .................................  

Less
Current m aturities ..........................................  
Variable rate demand bonds...................................  
Unamortized discount and premium, net .........................  

TOTAL CAPITALIZATION

$308 
303,856 
303,191 
607,355

9,997 
7,491 
6,498 
2,996 
2,995 

15,000

$308 
305,223 
291,939 
597,470

9,997 
7,491 
6,498 
2,996 
2,995 

15,000

14,986 14,986 
59,963 59,963 

8,899 8,899 
8,500 8,500 

14,600 14,600 
27,000 32,000 
16,000 16,000 
16,000 16,000 

1,000 1,000 
875 875 

90,000 90,000 
62,000 62,000 
72,000 72,000 
55,000 55,000 

371,874 376,874 

37,445 38,326 
45,086 42,834 
82,531 81,160 

10,000 10,000 
24,000 24,000 
34,000 34,000

(67,626) 
(56,975) 

(1,240) 
362,564 

$1,029,882

(3,397) 
(56,975) 

(1,300) 
430,362 

1,087,795

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31, 
1996 1995 1994

WPL HOLDINGS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 
OF COMMON SHAREOWNERS' INVESTMENT 

Common stock: 
Balance at beginning of year ............................  

Issued in connection with dividend reinvestment plan ........  
Balance at end of year.................................  

Additional paid-in capital: 
Balance at beginning of year ............................  

Received in connection with dividend reinvestment plan .......  
Other......  

Balance at end of year.................................  

Reinvested earnings: 
Balance at beginning of year ............................  

Net income ..............  
Cash dividends ($1.97 per share, $1.94 per share and 

$1.92 per share, respectively).........................  
Expense of issuing stock and other ......................  

Balance at end of year.................................  
TOTAL COMMON SHAREOWNERS' INVESTMENT ............

$308 $308 $305

308 308 308 

305,223 304,442 297,916 
- - 9,650 

(1,367) 781 (3,124) 
303,856 305,223 304,442 

291,939 293,048 284,745 
71,908 58,432 65,250 

(60,656) (59,701) (59,010) 
- 160 2,063 

303,191 291,939 293,048 
$607,355 $597,470 $597,798

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(dollars in thousands except as otherwise indicated) 

AfTC f. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

a. General 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WPL Holdings, Inc. (WPLH) and its 
consolidated subsidiaries (collectively the Company). WPLH is an investor-owned holding 
company whose primary operating company, Wisconsin Power & Light Company (WP&L), is 
engaged principally in the generation, transmission, distribution and sale of electric energy and the 
purchase, distribution, transportation and sale of natural gas primarily in the state of Wisconsin.  
WP&L's principal consolidated subsidiary is South Beloit Water, Gas and Electric Co. The 
Company also has various non-utility subsidiaries which are primarily engaged in the 
environmental and engineering service, affordable housing and energy marketing businesses.  
All subsidiaries for which the Company owns directly or indirectly more than 50% of the voting 
stock are included as consolidated subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.  
Investments for which the Company has at least a 20% interest are generally accounted for under 
the equity method of accounting. These investments are stated at acquisition cost, increased or 
decreased for the Company's equity in undistributed net income or loss, which is included in other 
income and deductions in the consolidated statements of income. Investments that do not meet the 
criteria for consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for under the cost 
method.  

b. Regulation 

WP&L's financial records are maintained in accordance with the uniform system of accounts 
prescribed by its regulators. The Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW) and the Illinois 
Commerce Commission (ICC) have jurisdiction over retail electric and gas revenues. The Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) has jurisdiction over wholesale electric revenues.
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c. Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.  

d. Cash and Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased and investments with a 
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  

e. Utility Plant and Other Property and Equipment 

Utility plant and other property and equipment are recorded at original cost. Utility plant costs 
include financing costs that are capitalized using the FERC method for allowance for funds used 
during construction (AFUDC). The AFUDC capitalization rate for 1996, 1995 and 1994 was 
10.23%, 6.68% and 10.15%, respectively. These capitalized costs are recovered in rates as the 
cost of the utility plant is depreciated.  

Normal repairs, maintenance and minor items of utility plant and other property and equipment 
are expensed. Ordinary utility plant retirements, including removal costs less salvage value, are 
charged to accumulated depreciation upon removal from utility plant accounts, and no gain or loss 
is recognized. Upon retirement or sale of other property and equipment, the cost and related 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in other 
income and deductions.  

f. Depreciation 

The Company uses the straight-line method of depreciation. For utility plant, straight-line 
depreciation is computed on the average balance of depreciable property at individual straight-line 
PSCW approved rates that consider the estimated useful life and removal cost or salvage value 
as follows: 

1996 1995 1994 
Electric 3.3% 3.3% 3.2% 
Gas 3.7% 3.7% 3.7% 
Water 2.6% 2.5% 2.5% 
Common 8.1% 7.9% 7.9% 

Depreciation expense related to WP&L's share of the decommissioning of the Kewaunee Nuclear 
Power Plant is discussed in Note 11 "Commitments and Contingencies". WP&L will implement 
higher depreciation rates effective January 1, 1997.  

Estimated useful lives related to other property and equipment are from 4 to 12 years for 
equipment and 31.5 to 40 years for buildings.  

g. Nuclear Fuel 

Nuclear fuel is recorded at its original cost and is amortized to expense based upon the quantity of 
heat produced for the generation of electricity. This accumulated amortization assumes spent 
nuclear fuel will have no residual value. Estimated future disposal costs of such fuel are expensed 
based on kilowatthours generated.  

h. Regulatory Assets and Liabilities 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of 
Certain Types of Regulation," provides that rate-regulated public utilities such as WP&L record 
certain costs and credits allowed in the ratemaking process in different periods than for 
unregulated entities. These are deferred as regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities and are 
recognized in the consolidated statements of income at the time they are reflected in rates. If a 
portion of WP&L's operations become no longer subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 71, a write
off of regulatory assets and liabilities would be required, unless some form of transition cost 
recovery is established by the appropriate regulatory body.
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As of December 31, 1996 and 1995, regulatory created assets include the following: 

1996 1995 

Environmental remediation costs (Note 11) ................... $81,431 $81,431 
Tax related (Note 6) .................................... 57,198 62,796 
Jurisdictional plant differences. .............................. 7,603 7,517 
Decontamination and decommissioning 

costs of Federal enrichment facilities ............................ 6,601 6,555 
O ther . ............................................... 8,584 11,970 

TOTAL.............................................. $160,877 $170,269 

As of December 31, 1996 and 1995, WP&L had recorded regulatory related liabilities of $33,901 
and $37,898, respectively. These liabilities are primarily tax related.  

i. Revenue 

The Company accrues revenues for services provided but not yet billed at month-end.  

j. Rate Matters 

Effective January 1, 1995, for the two-year period ended December 31, 1996, the PSCW in rate 
order LR-109, authorized a 2.8 percent annual decrease in electric rates, a 0.5 percent annual 
increase in gas rates and a decline in the allowed return on common equity to 11.5 percent from 
11.6 percent. Further, the PSCW approved certain incentive programs described below: 

1. The electric fuel adjustment mechanism, which allowed costs to fluctuate within a 3 percent 
band width, was eliminated. The elimination of the adjustment mechanism did not have a 
material impact on earnings.  

2. The automatic purchased gas adjustment clause was eliminated and replaced by a 
performance based rate (PBR) mechanism. Fluctuations in the commodity cost of gas above or 
below a prescribed commodity price index increase or decrease WP&L's margin on gas sales.  
Both benefits and exposures are subject to customer sharing provisions. WP&L's share is 
capped at $1.1 million pre-tax. For 1996 and 1995, WP&L earned $1.1 million and $0.8 
million, respectively, under this PBR mechanism.  

3. In order to promote air quality and delivery system reliability, there are S02 emissions and 
service reliability performance and incentive clauses. Positive incentives available under these 
clauses include $1.5 million pre-tax for the SO2 emissions and $0.5 million pre-tax for the 
service reliability. WP&L's earnings are also negatively exposed for equal amounts. For 1996 
and 1995, WP&L collected $2.0 million pre-tax in revenues and also deferred $2.6 and $2.1 
million pre-tax in revenues, respectively.  

WP&L made its required biennial rate case filing with the PSCW on April 1, 1996. Technical 
hearings took place during 1996. A final order is expected in April of 1997.  

k. Income Taxes 

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes, which requires 
the establishment of deferred tax liabilities and assets, as appropriate, for all temporary differences 
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the amounts reported in the financial statements 
using currently enacted tax rates as shown in NOTE 6.  

Investment tax credits are accounted for on a deferred basis and reflected in income ratably over 
the life of the related utility plant. As part of the affordable housing business, the Company is 
eligible to claim affordable housing and historic rehabilitation credits. These tax credits reduce 
current federal taxes to the extent the Company has consolidated taxes payable.  

1. Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years financial statements to conform with 
the current year presentation.



01T ~2. PROPOSED MERGER OF THE COMPANY 

On November 10, 1995, the Company, IES Industries Inc. (IES), and Interstate Power Company 
(IPC) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, as amended (Merger Agreement), providing 
for: a) IPC becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and b) the merger of IES with 
and into the Company, which merger will result in the combination of IES and the Company as a 
single holding company (collectively, the Proposed Merger). The new holding company will be 
named Interstate Energy Corporation (Interstate Energy). The Proposed Merger, which will be 
accounted for as a pooling of interests and is intended to be tax-free for federal income tax 
purposes, has been approved by the respective Boards of Directors and shareholders. It is still 

subject to approval by several federal and state regulatory agencies. The companies expect to 
receive the regulatory approvals by the end of the third quarter of 1997.  

The summary below contains selected unaudited pro forma financial data for the year ended 
December 31, 1996. The financial data should be read in conjunction with the historical 
consolidated financial statements and related notes of the Company, IES and IPC and in 
conjunction with the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements and related notes of 
Interstate Energy included in the Form 10-K Annual Report of WPL Holdings, Inc. The pro forma 

combined earnings per share reflect the issuance of shares associated with the exchange ratios 
discussed below.  

PRO FORMA 
WPLH IES IPC COMBINED 

(in thousands except per share data) (as reported) (as reported) (as reported) (Unaudited) 

Operating Revenues $932,844 $973,912 $326,084 $2,232,840 
Income from Continuing Operations $73,205 $60,907 $25,860 $159,972 
Earnings per share 

from Continuing Operations $2.38 $2.04 $2.69 $2.12 
Assets at December 31, 1996 $1,900,531 $2,125,562 $639,200 $4,665,293 
Long-term obligations, net at 

December 31, 1996 $430,190 $744,298 $188,731 $1,363,219 

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the outstanding shares of the Company's common 
stock will remain unchanged and outstanding as shares of Interstate Energy. Each outstanding 
share of IES common stock will be converted to 1.14 shares of Interstate Energy common stock.  
Each share of IPC common stock will be converted to 1.11 shares of Interstate Energy common 

stock. It is anticipated that Interstate Energy will retain the Company's common share dividend 
payment level as of the effective time of the merger. On January 22, 1997, the Board of Directors 

of the Company declared a quarterly dividend of $0.50 per share. This represents an annual rate of 
$2.00 per share.  

IES is a holding company headquartered in Cedar Rapids, Iowa, and is the parent company of 
IES Utilities Inc. (IES Utilities) and IES Diversified Inc. (IES Diversified). IES Utilities supplies 
electric and gas service to approximately 336,000 and 176,000 customers, respectively, in Iowa.  
IES Diversified and its principal subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the energy-related, 
transportation and real estate development businesses. IPC, an operating public utility 
headquartered in Dubuque, Iowa, supplies electric and gas service to approximately 165,000 and 

49,000 customers, respectively, in northeast Iowa, northwest Illinois and southern Minnesota.  

Interstate Energy will be the parent company of WP&L, IES Utilities and IPC and will be registered 
under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended (1935 Act). The Merger 
Agreement provides that these operating utility companies will continue to operate as separate 

entities for a minimum of three years beyond the effective date of the merger. In addition, the non
utility operations of the Company and IES Diversified will be combined shortly after the effective 
date of the merger under one entity to manage the diversified operations of Interstate Energy. The 
corporate headquarters of Interstate Energy will be in Madison, Wisconsin.  

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) historically has interpreted the 1935 Act to 
preclude registered holding companies, with limited exceptions, from owning both electric and gas 
utility systems. Although the SEC has recommended that registered holding companies be allowed 
to hold both gas and electric utility operations if the affected states agree, it remains possible that 
the SEC may require as a condition to its approval of the Proposed Merger that the Company, IES 
and IPC divest their gas utility properties, and possibly certain non-utility ventures of the Company 

and IES, within a reasonable time after the effective date of the Proposed Merger. 45



tM 3. JOINTLY OWNED UTILITY PLANTS 

WP&L participates with other Wisconsin utilities in the construction and operation of several jointly 
owned utility generating plants. Each of the respective owners is responsible for the financing of its 
portion of the construction costs. Kilowatt-hour generation and operating expenses are divided on 
the same basis of ownership with each owner reflecting its respective costs in its consolidated 
statements of income. The chart below represents WP&L's proportionate share of such plants as 
reflected in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 1996 and 1995.  

1996 1995 
Plant Accumulated Accumulated 

Ownership Inservice MW Plant in Provision for Plant in Provision for 
Interest % Date Capacity Service Depreciation CWIP Service Depreciation CWIP 

Coal: 
Columbia Energy 1975 & 

Center 46.2 1978 1,023 $161,811 $86,375 $1,581 $160,348 $79,521 $881 
Edgewater Unit 4 68.2 1969 330 50,796 28,056 702 50,762 26,759 216 
Edgewater Unit 5 75.0 1985 380 228,805 73,697 51 229,429 68,515 0 

Nuclear: 
Kewaunee Nuclear 
Power Plant 41.0 1974 535 131,207 80,577 810 132,211 76,096 836 

Total $572,619 $268,705 $3,144 $572,750 $250,891 $1,933 

RMC 4. NET ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

WP&L has a contract with a financial organization to sell, with limited recourse, certain accounts 
receivable and unbilled revenues. These receivables include customer receivables, sales to other 
public utilities and billings to the co-owners of the jointly owned electric generating plants that 
WP&L operates. The contract allows WP&L to sell up to $150 million of receivables at any time.  
Expenses related to the sale of receivables are paid to the financial organization under this 
contract, and include, along with various other fees, a monthly discount charge on the outstanding 
balance of receivables sold that approximated a 5.90 percent annual rate during 1996. These costs 
are recovered in retail utility rates as an operating expense. All billing and collection functions 
remain the responsibility of WP&L. The contract expires August 16, 1998, unless extended by 
mutual agreement.  

As of December 31, 1996 and 1995, the balance of sold accounts receivable that had not been 
collected totaled $86.5 million and $79.5 million, respectively. During 1996, the monthly proceeds 
from the sale of accounts receivable averaged $86.6 million, compared with $77.5 million in 1995.  
The Company does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk in the December 31, 
1996 and 1995 net accounts receivable balances.  

In June 1996, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 125, 
"Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities," 
which establishes standards for asset and liability recognition when transfers occur. This 
statement, effective January 1, 1997, specifies conditions when control has been surrendered 
which determines if sale treatment of the receivables would be allowed. At the present time, this 
new standard is not expected to materially impact the Company's financial position or results of 
operations.  

AV&C 5. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

a. Pension Plans 

WP&L has noncontributory, defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially all employees.  
The benefits are based upon years of service and levels of compensation. The projected unit credit 
actuarial cost method was used to compute net pension costs and the accumulated and projected 
benefit obligations. WP&L's policy is to fund the pension cost at an amount that is at least equal to 
the minimum funding requirements mandated by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
(ERISA) and that does not exceed the maximum tax deductible amount for the year.
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The following table sets forth the funded status of the plans and amounts recognized in the 
Company's consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 1996 and 1995:

1996 1995

Accumulated benefit obligation 
Vested benefits........................................  
Non-vested benefits....................................  

Total 

Projected benefit obligation................................  
Plan assets at fair value ..................................  

Plan assets in excess of projected benefit obligation.............  
Unrecognized net transition asset ...........................  
Unrecognized prior service cost ............................  
Unrecognized net loss ...................................  

Prepaid pension costs...................................  

Assumed rate of return on plan assets .......................  

Discount rate of projected benefit obligation ...................  

Range of assumed rate increases for future compensation levels . ...

$(161,031) 
(3,298) 

(164,329)

(189,653) 
218,920 

29,267 
(14,480) 

3,712 
15,011 

$33,510 

9.00%

7.50% 
3.50-4.50%

The net pension cost (benefit) recognized in the consolidated statements of income for 1996, 1995 
and 1994 included the following components:

1996

Service cost ................................  
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation. . . . . . . . . .  
Actual return on assets ........................  
Amortization and deferral.......................  

Net pension cost (benefit) .....................

$5,072 
13,625 

(24,962) 
5,452 
$(813)

1995

$3,879 
12,911 

(31,548) 
15,103 

$345

1994

$5,123 
12,051 

1,016 
(17,795) 

$395

b. Other Postretirement Benefits 
WP&L accrues for the expected cost of postretirement health-care and life insurance benefits 
during the employees' years of service based on actuarial methodologies that closely parallel 
pension accounting requirements. WP&L elected delayed recognition of the transition obligation in 
accordance with current accounting principles and is amortizing the discounted present value of 
the transition obligation to expense over 20 years. For WP&L, the cost of providing postretirement 
benefits, including the transition obligation, is being recovered in retail rates under current 
regulatory practices.  

The following table sets forth the funded status of the plans and amounts recognized in the 
Company's consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 1996 and 1995:

1996

Accumulated benefit obligation
Retirees.............................................  
Fully eligible active plan participants ........................  
Other active plan participants. .............................  

Total. . . . . . .. . . .. . ... . .. . .. . .. . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Plan assets at fair value..................................  
Accumulated benefit obligation 

in excess of plan assets................................  
Unrecognized transition obligation ...........................  
Unrecognized prior service cost .............................  
Unrecognized net loss ...................................  

Accrued postretirement benefits liability ......................  

Assumed rate of return on plan assets ........................  

Discount rate of accumulated benefit obligation .................  
Medical cost trend on paid charges: 

Initial trend rate.......................................  

Ultim ate trend rate.....................................

$(32,244) 
(4,954) 
(9,396) 

(46,594) 
13.801

(32,793) 
23,532 

(294) 
(5,045) 

$(14,600) 
9.00% 
7.50%

9.00% 
5.00%

1995

$(35,639) 
(6,261) 
(8,091) 

(49,991) 
11,768

(38,223) 
25,003 

1,166 
$(12,054) 

9.00% 
7.25%

10.00% 

5.00%

$(157,111) 
(2,755) 

(159,866)

(184,937) 
202,343 

17,406 
(16,928) 

4,022 
24,685 

$29,185 

9.00%

7.25% 
3.50-4.50%
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The net postretirement benefits cost recognized in the consolidated statements of income for 1996, 
1995 and 1994 included the following components:

1996 1995

Service cost.................................$1,804 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation...........3,375 
Actual return on assets.........................(1,351 
Amortization of transition obligation ............... 1,471 
Amortization and deferral....................... 371 

Net postretirement benefits cost ................. $5,670

$1,495 
3,567 

(2,051) 
1,471 
1,313

1994

$1,739 
3,135 

(253) 
1,527 
(381)

$5,795 $5,767

Increasing the medical cost trend rate by one percentage point in each year would increase the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 1996 by $2.0 million and the 
aggregate of the service and interest cost components of the net periodic postretirement benefit 
cost for the year by $0.3 million.  

c. Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan 

The Company has a long-term equity incentive plan which permits the grant of non-qualified stock 
options and equivalent performance units. SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock Based 
Compensation Plans," establishes standards of financial accounting and reporting for stock-based 
compensation plans. As allowed under SFAS No. 123, the Company elected to continue to apply 
APBO No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees", in accounting for stock based 
compensation plans. Proforma disclosures pursuant to SFAS No. 123 for stock options have not 
been presented as the impact would not change reported earnings per share.  

ARff 6. INCOME TAXES 

The following table reconciles the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate 
on continuing operations: 

1996 1995 1994 

Statutory federal income tax rate ................. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ........... 6.8 6.0 5.3 
Investment tax credits restored ................... (1.6) (1.7) (1.9) 
Amortization of excess deferred taxes.............. (1.4) (1.5) (1.6) 
Affordable housing and historical tax credits ......... .. (5.0) (4.5) (4.6) 
Other differences, net.......................... 1.6 (0.8) 1.9 

Effective income tax ......................... 35.4% 32.5% 34.1% 

The breakdown of income tax expense as reflected in the consolidated statements of income is 
as follows: 

1996 1995 1994 

Current federal...............................$32,817 $25,867 $26,793 
Current state.................................... 9,700 7,240 5,673 
Deferred.................................... 7,078 9,908 10,321 
Investment tax credit restored .................... (1,912) (1,916) (1,926) 
Affordable housing and historical tax credits ......... .(5,869) (4,991) (4,818) 

$41,814 $36,108 $36,043 

The temporary differences that resulted in accumulated deferred income taxes (assets) and 
liabilities as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, are as follows: 

1996 1995

Property related. ........................................ $229,263 
Investment tax credit related .............................. (19,886) 
Decommissioning related. ................................... 14,541 
O ther ............................................... 2 1,768

$220,428 
(20,915) 
12,613 
29,024

$245,686 $241,150
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ARMC 7. SHORT-TERM DEBT AND LINES OF CREDIT 

The Company and its subsidiaries maintain committed bank lines of credit, most of which are at 
the bank prime rates, to obtain short-term borrowing flexibility, including pledging lines of credit as 
security for any commercial paper outstanding. Amounts available under these lines of credit 
totaled $120 million as of December 31, 1996. Information regarding short-term debt and lines of 
credit is as follows: 

1996 1995 1994 

As of year end
Lines of credit borrowings..................... $- $-- $ 
Commercial paper outstanding ................. $59,500 $56,500 $50,500 
Notes payable outstanding .................... $43,279 $53,025 $14,001 
Discount rates on commercial paper ............. 5.35-5.65% 5.73-5.77% 5.64-6.12% 
Interest rates on notes payable ................. 5.28-6.31% 5.80-6.42% 6.04-6.07% 

For the year ended
Maximum month-end amount of short-term debt ... $103,500 $117,000 $81,000 
Average amount of short-term debt 

(based on daily outstanding balances) .......... $60,800 $68,725 $61,835 
Average interest rate on short-term debt .......... 5.72% 5.95% 4.49% 

ARMC9 8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company has only limited involvement with derivative financial instruments and does not use 
them for trading purposes. They are used to manage well-defined interest rate and commodity 
price risks.  

Interest rate swaps: WP&L enters into interest rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of 
changes in interest rates on its floating-rate debt and fees associated with the sale of its accounts 
receivable. The notional principal amount of interest rate swaps outstanding as of December 31, 
1996, was $89.0 million. Average variable rates are based on rates implied in the forward yield 
curve at the reporting date. The average pay and receive rates associated with these agreements 
are 5.08 percent and 4.78 percent, respectively. The swap agreements have contract maturities 
from two days to three years. It is not WP&L's intent to terminate these contracts, however, the 
total cost to WP&L if it were to terminate all of the agreements existing at December 31, 1996, is 
$0.1 million.  

In 1995, WP&L entered into an interest rate forward contract related to the anticipated issuance of 
$60 million of long-term debt securities. The securities were not issued in 1996 and the forward 
contract was closed which resulted in a gain of $0.8 million to WP&L. The gain was deferred and 
will be recognized as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the bonds expected to be 
issued during 1997 as discussed in NOTE 10b.  

Gas Swaps: WP&L uses gas commodity swaps to reduce the impact of price fluctuations on gas 
purchased and injected into storage during the summer months and withdrawn and sold at current 
market prices during the winter months. Variances between underlying commodity prices and 
financial contracts on these agreements are deferred and recognized as increases or decreases in 
the cost of gas at the time the storage gas is sold. At December 31, 1996 and 1995, the 
commodity swap agreements outstanding were immaterial.  

Other: The Company's non-utility energy marketing business periodically uses commodity futures 
contracts, options and swaps to hedge the impact of natural gas and electric power price 
fluctuations on its purchase and sale commitments. Gains and losses on these instruments are 
deferred and recognized in income as adjustments to the costs of energy when the related 
transaction being hedged is finalized. At December 31, 1996 and 1995, the instruments 
outstanding were immaterial.
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AtMC 9. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The estimated fair values of financial instruments at December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the basis 
upon which they were estimated are as follows: 

Cash, nuclear decommissioning trust funds and short-term debt: The carrying amount of cash 
and short-term debt approximates fair value due to their short maturities. As of December 31, 
1996 and 1995, the investments in the nuclear decommissioning trust which are carried at fair 
value, include a net unrealized gain of $9.4 million and $4.7 million, respectively.  

Cumulative Preferred Stock of WP&L: The estimated fair value of the preferred stock is $47.7 
million and $49.3 million at December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively. These amounts are based 
on the market yield of similar securities and quoted market prices.  
Long-Term Debt: At December 31, 1996 and 1995, the estimated fair value of long-term debt is 
$435.9 million and $523.6 million, respectively. These amounts are based upon the market yield of 
similar securities and quoted market prices.  
Since WP&L is subject to regulation, any gains or losses related to the difference between the 
carrying amount and the fair value of WP&L's nuclear decommissioning trust funds and long-term 
debt may not be realized by the Company's shareholders.  

A'OTC 10. CAPITALIZATION 

a. Common Shareowners' Investment 

During 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, the Company issued 0, 0 and 337,980 new shares 
of common stock through its Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan and 401(k) 
Savings Plan, generating proceeds of $0, $0 and $9.6 million, respectively.  

In February 1989, the Board of Directors of the Company declared a dividend distribution of one 
common stock purchase right (right) on each outstanding share of the Company's common stock.  
Each right would initially entitle shareowners to buy one-half of one share of the Company's 
common stock at an exercise price of $60.00 per share, subject to adjustment. The rights are not 
currently exercisable, but would become exercisable if certain events occurred related to a person 
or group acquiring or attempting to acquire 20 percent or more of the outstanding shares of 
common stock. The rights expire on February 22, 1999, unless the rights are redeemed or 
exchanged earlier by the Company.  

A retail rate order effective January 1, 1995, requires WP&L to maintain a utility common equity 
level of 51.93 percent of total utility capitalization during the test years January 1, 1995 to 
December 31, 1996. In addition, the PSCW ordered that it must approve the payment of dividends 
by WP&L to the Company that are in excess of the level forecasted in the rate order ($58.1 
million), if such dividends would reduce WP&L's average common equity ratio below 51.93 
percent. At December 31, 1996, WP&L's common equity ratio was 53.53 percent.  

b. Long-Term Debt 

Substantially, all of WP&L's utility plant is secured by its first mortgage bonds. In addition, the 
Company's long term debt includes notes payable and revenue bonds related to its affordable 
housing properties. Current maturities of long-term debt of the Company are as follows: $67.6 
million in 1997, $11.5 million in 1998, $4.4 million in 1999, $4.1 million in 2000 and $2.7 
in 2001.  

On September 14, 1995, WP&L received an order from the PSCW authorizing the sale of up to $60 
million of long-term debt securities. WP&L had expected to make an offering of the long-term debt 
securities before December 31, 1996. WP&L did not make this offering and does not intend to 
request an extension of this order. WP&L expects to request PSCW permission for the sale of up to 
$105 million of long-term debt securities to be issued before December 31, 1997. WP&L intends to 
use the net proceeds from the sale of these securities to provide funds for the retirement of Series 
Z Bonds and to repurchase on the open market Series V and/or Series W Bonds. The remainder of 
the net proceeds will be used to repay other short-term debt incurred by WP&L to finance utility 
construction expenditures and for general corporate purposes.

50



VfC Ht. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

a. Coal Contract Commitments 
To ensure an adequate supply of coal, WP&L has entered into certain long-term coal contracts.  
These contracts include a demand or take-or-pay clause under which payments are required if 
contracted quantities are not purchased. Purchase obligations on these coal and related rail 
contracts total approximately 14.5 million tons through December 31, 2001. WP&L's management 
believes it will meet minimum coal and rail purchase obligations under the contracts. Minimum 
purchase obligations on these contracts over the next five years are estimated to be $36 million in 
1997, $37 million in 1998, $28 million in 1999, $9 million in 2000 and $9 million in 2001.  

b. Purchased Power and Gas 

Under firm purchased power and gas contracts, the Company is obligated as follows 
(dollars in millions): 

Purchased Power Purchased Gas 

1997............................. $80.2 $71.6 
1998.............................. 16.8 40.2 
1999.............................. 20.2 30.7 
2000.............................. 27.6 26.2 
2001............................. 28.9 21.6 
Thereafter......................... 84.9 46.1 

c. Manufactured Gas Plant Sites 

WP&L has a current or previous ownership interest in 11 properties associated in the past with the 
production of manufactured gas. Some of these sites may contain coal tar waste products which 
may present an environmental hazard. WP&L owns five of these sites, three are currently owned by 
municipalities and the remaining three are currently owned by private companies.  

Through ongoing investigations and studies, WP&L confirmed that there was no contamination at 
two of the sites and only a minimal likelihood of contamination at a third site. As WP&L has 
received close out letters from the State of Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) for 
these three sites, WP&L has no further obligations at these sites. WP&L has also implemented 
DNR-approved remediation plans at two additional sites in the last several years. An air 
sparging/biosparging remediation system was implemented at one of the sites, while excavation 
and disposal of the coal tar residue and contaminated soils was implemented at the other.  
Groundwater monitoring is ongoing at both sites.  

WP&L currently estimates that the remaining remediation costs associated with the former 
manufactured gas plant sites is $74 million. The estimate includes the costs of feasibility studies, 
data collection, soil and groundwater remediation activities and ongoing monitoring activities 
through 2027. The estimate is based on a number of factors including the estimated extent and 
volume of contaminated soil and/or groundwater. The estimate is also premised in part on a 
remediation method that involves treatment or removal of contaminated soil. Based on recent 
approvals from the DNR, WP&L may be able to implement a less-costly containment and control 
remediation strategy at two of the remaining sites. WP&L plans to implement this remediation at 
these two sites in 1997. If remediation is successful, management believes there may be a 
significant reduction in the estimated liability.  

Changes in the liability do not immediately impact the earnings of WP&L. Under the current rate 
making treatment approved by the PSCW, the costs expended in the environmental remediation of 
these sites are deferred and collected from gas customers over a five year period after new rates 
are implemented. Management believes futures costs will also be recovered in rates.
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d. Spent Nuclear Fuel and Decommissioning Costs 
WP&L's share of the decommissioning costs of Kewaunee Nuclear Power-Plant (Kewaunee) is 
estimated to be $180 million (in 1996 dollars, assuming the plant is operating through 2013) 
based on a 1992 site-specific study, using the immediate dismantlement method of 
decommissioning. The costs of decommissioning are assumed to escalate at an annual rate of 6.5 
percent. The undiscounted amount of decommissioning costs estimated to be expended between 
the years 2014 and 2050 is $1,016 million.  

As required by the PSCW and FERC, WP&L makes annual contributions to qualified and 
nonqualified external trust funds to provide for decommissioning of Kewaunee. The Company's 
annual contribution is $10.7 million for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994. This 
amount is fully recovered in rates. The after-tax income of the external trust funds was $2.7 
million, $2.8 million and $2.7 million for 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.  

Decommissioning costs, which include the annual contribution to external trust funds and earnings 
on the assets of these trusts, are recorded as depreciation expense in the consolidated statements 
of income with the cumulative amount included in the accumulated provision for depreciation on 
the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 1996, the total decommissioning costs 
included in the accumulated provision for depreciation were $90.7 million.  

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) is responsible 
for the ultimate storage and disposal of spent nuclear fuel removed from nuclear reactors. Interim 
storage space for spent nuclear fuel is currently provided at Kewaunee. Currently there is on-site 
storage capacity for spent fuel through the year 2001. An investment of approximately $2.5 million 
could provide additional storage sufficient to meet spent fuel storage needs until the expiration of 
the current operating license.  

The following summarizes the investment at December 31, 1996 and 1995: 

1996 1995 

Original cost of nuclear fuel.............................. $166,342 $160,997 
Less-Accumulated amortization.......................... 146,974 142,130 

Nuclear fuel, net ....................................... $19,368 $ 18,867 

e. Nuclear Performance 

In September 1996, Kewaunee was taken out of service for a scheduled refueling and maintenance 
outage which was originally projected to be of five weeks duration. During the outage, however, 
extensive tube degradation was encountered which extended the outage through the first quarter of 
1997. The estimated costs attributable to the outage extension are replacement power costs of 
$500,000 per week and WP&L's share of the repair costs are approximately $2.3 million of which 
$1.4 million was expensed in 1996. Additional details of the Kewaunee outage can be found 
elsewhere in this report in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations." 

f. Nuclear Insurance 

The Price Anderson Act provides for the payment of funds for public liability claims arising from a 
nuclear incident. Accordingly, in the event of a nuclear incident, WP&L, as a 41-percent owner of 
Kewaunee, is subject to an overall assessment of approximately $32.5 million per incident, not to 
exceed $4.1 million payable in any given year.  

Through its membership in Nuclear Mutual Limited and Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited, WP&L 
has obtained property damage and decontamination insurance totaling $2 billion for loss from 
damage at Kewaunee. In addition, WP&L maintains outage and replacement power insurance 
coverage totaling $101.4 million in the event an outage exceeds 21 weeks.  

g. Planned Capital Expenditures 

Plans for the construction and financing of future additions to utility plant can be found 
elsewhere in this report in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations."
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h. Loan Commitments 

As of December 31, 1996, the Company's affordable housing subsidiary had extended 
commitments to provide $24.7 million in nonrecourse, fixed rate, permanent financing to 
developers which are secured by affordable housing properties. The Company anticipates other 
lenders will ultimately finance these properties.  

NC f2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

The Company's financial statements reflect the discontinuance of operations of its utility energy 
and marketing consulting business in 1995. The discontinuance of this business resulted in a pre
tax loss in the fourth quarter of 1995 of $7.7 million. The after tax loss on disposition was $11.0 
million reflecting the associated tax expense on disposition due to the non-deductibility of the 

carrying value of goodwill at sale. During 1996, the Company recognized an additional loss of $1.3 
million, net of applicable income tax benefit, associated with the final disposition of the business.  

Operating revenues, operating expenses, other income and expense and income taxes for the 

discontinued operations for the time periods presented have been excluded from income from 
continuing operations. Interest expense has been adjusted for the amounts associated with direct 
obligations of the discontinued operations.  

Operating revenues, related losses, and income tax benefits associated with the discontinued 
operations for the years ending December 31 were as follows: 

1995 1994

Operating revenues .................................  

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax ........  
Incom e tax benefit..................................  
Loss from discontinued operations .......................

$24,979 $34,798 

$3,663 $1,806 
1,451 632 

$2,212 $1,174

The assets and liabilities associated with discontinued operations included in the balance sheets at 

December 31, 1996 and 1995, were as follows: 

1996 1995 

Assets: 
Other property and equipment, net and investments $0 $1,612 
Accounts receivable, net ............................ 253 4,942 
Prepayments and other.............................. 222 333 
Deferred charges . ................................. 0 5,717 

Liabilities: 
Long-term debt, net ... ............................. 0 147 
Current maturities of long-term debt .................... 0 65 
Accounts payable and accruals ....................... 1,920 1,491 

Other accrued liabilities ............................. 0 684 
Deferred credits . .................................. 0 736 

Net (liabilities' assets $(............................ 445) $9,481
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rCT f3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The following table sets forth certain information relating to the Company's consolidated 
continuing operations:

1996

Operation information: 
Customer revenues

Electric-utility ............................  
G as-utility..............................  
Environmental and engineering services ........  
O ther.................................  

Operating income (loss) 
Electric-utility ............................  
G as-utility..............................  
Environmental and engineering services ........  
O ther (a) ..............................  

Investment information: 
Identifiable assets, including allocated 
common plant at December 31

Electric-utility . ..........................  
Gas-utility..............................  
Environmental and engineering services ........  
Other .................................  

Other information: 
Construction and nuclear fuel expenditures

Electric-utility ...........................  
Gas-utility...............................  
Other .................................  

Depreciation and amortization expense 
Electric-utility ............................  
G as-utility..............................  
O ther.................................

$589,482 
165,627 

84,859 
92,876 

$136,339 
18,929 

92 
(13,856)

$1,225,321 
262,090 

33,508 
379,612 

$125,894 
17,978 
22,494 

$74,492 
9,756 
6,435

1995

$546,324 
139,165 
88,574 
33,192 

$134,180 
16,963 
3,680 

(8,825)

$1,226,786 
250,643 
38,116 

356,869

$122,297 
16,905 
14,607 

$71,379 
9,629 
5,311

1994

$531,747 
151,931 
87,673 
24,366 

$118,782 
13,075 
6,038 

(8,715)

$1,176,670 
234,815 
41,187 

353,229

$103,420 
20,319 

5,949 

$64,695 
8,082 
7,574

(a)Excludes the effects of affordable housing and historical tax credits of $5.9 million, $5.0 million 
and $4.8 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATING STATISTICS 
1996 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
(In thousands except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 
1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1986

Operating revenues: 
Electric 
Gas 
Other (a) 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses: 
Electric production fuels 
Purchased power 
Purchased gas 
Other operations and maintenance (a) 
Depreciation and amortization 
Taxes other than income 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income 

Other income (expenses), net (a) 
AFUDC - equity 

AFLDC - debt 

Interest on debt 
Income before income taxes 
Income taxes 
Preferred dividends of subsidiary 

Income from continuing operations 
Discontinued operations 
Net income 

Per Share Data (b): 
Income from continuing operations per share 
Discontinued operations per share 
Net income per share 
Cash dividends paid per share 
Book value per share at year-end 
Market value per share at year-end 
Shares outstanding at year-end (in 000s) 

Weighted average shares outstanding (in 000s) 

Return on common equity

$589,482 $546,324 $531,747 $503,187 $477,735 $488,552 $437,033
165,627 
177,735 
932.844

139,165 
121,766 
807.255

151,931 
112,039 
795717

137,270 
98,147 

738604

119,362 
76,176 

673.273

117,775 
63,222 

669.549

128,201 
4,012 

569.246

114,470 116,488 123,469 123,919 123,440 130,406 127,476 
81,108 44,940 37,913 28,574 24,427 20,390 12,262 

104,830 84,002 100,942 90,505 77,112 70,834 88,763 
365,646 295,320 290,074 266,603 241,125 234,635 136,352 

90,683 86,319 80,351 68,680 59,949 54,145 45,139 
34,603 34,188 33,788 32,379 29,261 26,534 22,931 

791,340 661,257 666,537 610,660 555,314 536,944 432,923 

141,504 145,998 129,180 127,944 117,959 132,605 136,323 

15,644 6,509 10,245 (633) 2,390 3,258 694 
2,270 1,425 3,009 2,978 2,351 1,073 769 

938 663 1,029 1,053 1,329 886 535 
(42,027) (43,559) (37,686) (38,073) (38,954) (35,691) (31,325) 
118,329 111,036 105,777 93,269 85,075 102,131 106,996 
(41,814) (36,108) (36,043) (25,656) (23,257) (32,390) (46,512) 

(3,310) (3,310) (3,310) (3,928) (3,811) (3,811) (3,814) 

73,205 71,618 66,424 63,685 58,007 65,930 56,670 
(1,297) (13,186) (1,174) (1,162) - -

$71,908 $58,432 $65,250 $62,523 $58,007 $65,930 $56,670

$2.38 
($0.04) 
$2.34 
$1.97 

$19.73 
28 1/8 
30,774 
30,790

$2.33 
($0.43) 
$1.90 
$1.94 

$19.41 
30 5/8 
30,774 
30,774

$2.17 
($0.04) 
$2.13 
$1.92 

$19.43 
27 3/8 
30,774 
30,671

$2.15 
($0.04) 
$2.11 
$1.90 

$19.15 
32 7/8 
30,439 
29,681

$2.10 

$2.10 
$1.86 

$17.28 
33 7/8 
27,829 
27,559

$2.42 

$2.42 
$1.80 

$16.77 
32 3/4 
27,301 
27,246

$2.14 

$2.14 
$1.45 

$14.50 
25 

26,473 
26,473

11.80% 9.80% 11.00% 11.50% 12.40% 14.60% 15.30%

(a) The financial statements of WPL Holdings, Inc. were consolidated with the operations of its subsidiaries effective 

January 1, 1988. For prior periods, nonutility subsidiary net revenues and expenses are included with "Other income 

(expenses), net." Such amounts are not material to a fair presentation of financial results and, therefore, periods prior 

to January 1, 1988, were not restated.  
(b) As adjusted for 2-for-I stock split for shareowners of record on September 2, 1988.
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATING STATISTICS 
1996 1995

December 31, 
1994 1993 1992 1991 1986

Consolidated Balance Sheets (a) 
(In thousands) 
Assets 
Utility Plant 
Dedicated decommissioning trust funds 
Less: accumulated depreciation 

Construction work in progress 
Nuclear fuel, net 
Other property and equipment, 

net and investments 
Current assets 
Deferred charges and other 
Total assets 

Capitalization and liabilities 
Common shareowners' investment 
Preferred stock 
Long-term debt, net 

Total capitalization 
Current maturities of long-term debt 
Variable rate demand bonds 

Other current liabilities 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

Total capitalization and liabilities 

Year-end capitalization ratios 
Common 
Preferred 
Debt (b) 
Total capitalization 

Key financial ratio 
Times interest earned 

Before tax (including AFUDC) 

Utility Bond Rating-
Moody's Investors Service, Inc 
Standard & Poor's Corp

$2,133,118 
90,671 

967,436

$2,042,750 
73,357 

887,562

$1,961,189 $1,840,224 
51,791 49,803 

808,853 763,027

$1,736,592 
40,377 

719,987

$1,664,946 
36,640 

675,589

$1,352,062 
20,000 

461,936
$1,256,353 1,228,545 1,204,127 1,127,000 1,056,982 1,025,997 910,126 

55,519 36,996 42,732 75,732 58,973 27,135 10,180 
19,368 18,867 19,396 18,000 16,923 18,682 19,303 

144,671 157,397 135,549 133,912 122,800 84,018 16,221 
172,402 175,688 154,434 156,817 127,357 130,010 153,269 
252,218 254,921 249,663 250,438 182,863 97,657 9,894 

$1,900,531 $1,872,414 $1,805,901 $1,761,899 $1,565,898 $1,383,499 $1,118,993 

$607,355 $597,470 $597,798 $582,966 $483,536 $459,659 $383,926 
59,963 59,963 59,963 59,963 62,449 62,449 60,000 

362,564 430,362 448,110 425,105 417,975 367,489 324,682 
1,029,882 1,087,795 1,105,871 1,068,034 963,960 889,597 768,608 

67,626 3,397 2,832 782 985 4,415 12,726 
56,975 56,975 56,975 56,975 57,075 57,875 8,500 

282,737 261,202 191,265 217,264 187,055 172,630 116,392 
463,311 463,045 448,958 418,844 356,823 258,982 212,767 

$1,900,531 $1,872,414 $1,805,901 $1,761,899 $1,565,898 $1,383,499 $1,118,993 

48.30% 47.50% 48.60% 47.90% 44.20% 45.80% 48.20% 
4.80% 4.80% 4.90% 4.90% 5.70% 6.00% 7.50% 

46.90% 47.70% 46.50% 47.20% 50.10% 48.20% 44.30% 
100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

3.78X 3.51X 3.63X 3.32X 3.1OX 3.78X 4.33X

Aa 
AA

Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa Aaa 
AA AA AA AA AA AA+

(a) These statements have been retroactively restated to reflect Wisconsin Power and Light Company's adoption of the Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission Uniform System of Accounts, with minor modifications, effective January 1990.  

(b) Includes variable rate demand bonds and short-term debt outstanding on December 31.
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATING STATISTICS Year Ended December 31,
1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1986

Consolidated Electric Statistics 

Customers served (end of period): 
Residential and farm 
Commercial and industrial 
Wholesale 
Other 

Total 

Electric operating revenues (In 000s): 
Residential and farm 
Commercial and industrial 
Wholesale 
Other 
Total 

Sales - (MWH In 000s): 

Residential and farm 
Commercial and industrial 
Wholesale 
Other 

Total 

Generation and purchases (MWH in 000s 
Steam 
Nuclear 
Hydroelectric 
Purchases 
Other 

Total 

System capacity at time of 
peak demand (MW) 

Company-owned 
Firm purchases and sales (net) 

Total 

Native system peak demand (a) 
Firm demand at system peak (b) 

Consolidated Gas Statistics 
Customers served (end of period) 
Gas operating revenues (In 000s): 

Residential 
Commercial and industrial firm 

Interruptible 
Transportation and other 

Total 

Therm deliveries (In 000s): 
Residential 
Commercial and industrial firm 
Interruptible 
Transportation and other 

Total 

Degree days: 
Heating 
Cooling

336,933 
46,484 

90 
1,730 

385.237

329,643 
45,525 

48 
1,294 

376.510

322,924 
44,569 

42 
1,256 

368791

316,870 
43,598 

39 
1,236 

361 743

310,702 
43,014 

31 
958 

354.705

304,825 
41,869 

31 
1,183 

347,908

283,977 
38,149 

37 
922 

323,085

$201,690 $199,850 $194,242 $184,176 $171,887 $179,751 $157,611 

249,053 242,691 241,869 228,880 220,174 216,840 192,430 

131,836 97,350 86,400 78,955 67,326 68,154 62,019 

6,903 6,433 9,236 11,176 18,348 23,807 24,973 

$589,482 $546,324 $531,747 $503,187 $477,735 $488,552 $437,033 

2,980 2,938 2,777 2,751 2,614 2,730 2,289 

5,800 5,646 5,453 5,170 4,929 4,743 3,834 

5,246 3,109 2,574 2,106 1,995 1,980 1,577 

57 54 55 334 269 516 1,015 
14,083 11,747 10,859 10,361 9,807 9,969 8,715 

8,687 8,323 7,821 7,616 7,420 7,841 6,830 

1,301 1,555 1,625 1,565 1,615 1,508 1,580 

244 222 228 276 238 247 254 

4,494 2,227 1,786 1,488 1,131 968 572 

59 86 24 6 6 18 11 

14,785 12,413 11,484 10,951 10,410 10,582 9,247 

2,300 2,176 2,193 2,019 1,934 1,932 1,889 

68 57 40 83 110 70 88 

2,368 2,233 2,233 2,102 2,044 2,002 1,977 

2,124 2,197 2,002 1,971 1,782 1,863 1,470 

2,013 2,058 1,822 1,840 1,680 1,775 1,442 

150,444 146,093 140,981 136,263 131,669 128,027 112,042 

$90,382 $70,382 $71,555 $71,632 $63,699 $63,521 $66,082 

50,270 39,456 41,918 40,748 37,154 36,407 42,945 

5,261 3,708 8,777 11,247 14,589 12,051 15,453 

19,714 25,619 29,682 13,643 3,920 5,796 3,721 

$165,627 $139,165 $151,932 $137,270 $119,362 $117,775 $128,201 

142,974 126,903 119,562 120,005 114,131 114,772 101,808 

98,095 91,316 87,487 87,038 82,087 83,451 81,243 

13,480 12,148 24,809 27,872 25,497 26,025 40,391 

185,735 169,121 142,252 84,877 71,167 66,531 27,542 

440.284 399.488 374,110 319,792 292,882 290,779 250,984

8,124 
408

7,431 
982

7,170 7,351 
637 630

7,050 
342

7,055 
858

7,266 
519

(a) Includes contract interruptible demand served at time of system peak.  

(b) Native system peak less contract interruptible demand, less direct load control served at time of peak.
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Shareowner 9 

WHERE WPLH SHAREOWNERS LIVE 
(As of 12-31-96) 

The company had 37,108 shareowners as of 
December 31, 1996, based on the number of 
shareowner accounts. Shareowner account 
records are maintained in the corporate 
general office in Madison, Wis.

Wisconsin 57%

Illinois 8%

- All other 25%

- California 4% 

New York 2%

MARKET INFORMATION 
EXCHANGE LISTINGS 

Stock Trading Newspaper 
Exchange Symbol Abbreviation 

WPL Holdings, Inc. New York 
Common Stock Exchange WPH WPL HIdg 

Wisconsin Power & American Wis Pr WiscPL 
Light Co. Stock Exchange 
4.50% Preferred 

All other Wisconsin Power and Light Co. preferred series are 
traded on the over-the-counter market.  

WPLH COMMON STOCK 
QUARTERLY PRICE RANGES AND DIVIDENDS 

1996 1995 
Quarter High Low Dividend High Low Dividend 
First $32 29% .4925 $31 27Y .485 
Second 32% 28% .4925 30 27Y2 .485 
Third 32% 28% .4925 29% 27Y .485 
Fourth 29% 272 .4925 31% 29Y .485 
Year $32% 27Y 1.97 $31% 27Y 1.94 

Year-end stock price: $28Y8
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WP&L PREFERRED STOCK 

Wisconsin Power and Light Co. preferred stock 
dividends per share for each quarter during 
1996 were as follows: 

Series Dividend Series Dividend
4.40% 
4.50% 
4.76% 
4.80%

$1.10 
$1.125 
$1.19 
$1.20

4.96% 
6.20% 
6.50%

$1.24 
$1.55 
$ .40625

1997 RECORD AND DIVIDEND 
PAYMENT DATES 

As authorized by the WPL Holdings, Inc. and 
Wisconsin Power and Light Co. Boards of 
Directors, record and dividend dates normally 
are as follows: 

WPL Holdings, Inc. Common Stock 
Record Dates Payment Dates 

Jan. 31 Feb. 15 
Apr. 30 May 15 
Aug. 4 Aug. 15 
Oct. 31 Nov. 15 

Wisconsin Power and Light Co. Preferred Stock 
Record Dates Payment Dates 

Feb. 28 Mar. 15 
May 30 June 14 
Aug. 29 Sept. 15 
Nov. 28 Dec. 15 

DIVIDEND CHECKS NOT RECEIVED 

If you do not receive your dividend check 
on the appropriate payment date, we 
suggest that you wait about seven days 
after the scheduled payment date to allow 
for any delays in mail delivery. After that 
time, call Shareowner Services at the toll
free number listed at the end of this section.

STREET-NAME ACCOUNTS 

Shareowners whose stock is held by banks 
or brokerage firms and who wish to receive 
quarterly reports directly from the company 
should contact Shareowner Services to be 
placed on the mailing list.  

FORM 10-K INFORMATION 

Upon request, the company will provide, 
without charge, copies of Form 10-K, as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. Direct your request to 
Shareowner Services.  

ANALYST INQUIRIES 

Inquiries from the financial community may 
be directed to: Robert Rusch, Wisconsin 
Power and Light Company, Attn: Investor 
Relations, P.O. Box 192, Madison, WI 
53701-0192, Telephone: (608) 252-3470.  

DUPLICATE MAILINGS 

WPLH Annual Reports are mailed to all 
shareowners. You will receive duplicate 
mailings from us if your shares are 
registered in different, but similar names. If 
you do not need duplicate annual reports, 
send us a request to eliminate the duplicate 
mailings. Please tell us the names of the 
accounts you want eliminated from our 
mailing list and the name of the account 
that you want your mailings addressed to.  
Send your request to Shareowner Services.  

If your receive duplicate mailings of proxies 
and dividend checks because of slight 
differences in the registration of your 
accounts, please call Shareowner Services 
for instructions on combining your accounts.
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Shareowner

SERVICES OFFERED TO SHAREOWNERS 

The company is pleased to provide 
numerous services for the institutions and 
individuals who own the company. Here is 
a summary of the key services that WPL 
Holdings offers to shareowners.  

Dividend Reinvestment - WPL Holdings has 
a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock 
Purchase Plan that is available to all of its 
shareowners. The plan enables shareowners 
to buy common stock directly through the 
company without paying any brokerage 
commissions, fees or service charges. You 
may obtain a copy of the Plan Prospectus 
detailing the features of the Plan by 
contacting Shareowner Services.  

Automatic Stock Purchase - This option 
enables shareowners participating in the 
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase 
Plan, who want to purchase common stock 
on a monthly basis, to have money 
transferred directly from their checking 
accounts to their plan accounts. This 
service provides a way to purchase stock 
on a regular basis and build investment 
over time.  

Direct Deposit - Shareowners who are not 
reinvesting their dividends through WPL 
Holdings' plan may choose to have their 
quarterly common and preferred stock 
dividend checks electronically deposited in 
their checking or savings accounts through 
this service.  

Stock Transfers - WPL Holdings is its own 
transfer agent for WPL Holdings, Inc. and 
Wisconsin Power and Light Co. stock, and

handles all types of stock transfer for 
shareowners, including transfers for name 
changes, custodial accounts, joint tenancy, 
gifts, trusts and other changes.  

Shareowner Information - The company 
keeps its shareowners informed regularly 
through the Annual Report, the Quarterly 
Report and other communications. WPL 
Holdings encourages shareowners with 
questions or concerns to contact its 
Shareowner Services representatives.  

STOCK TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

For WPL Holdings, Inc. common stock and 
Wisconsin Power and Light Company 
preferred stock, contact: 

WPL Holdings, Inc.  
Attn: Shareowner Services 
P.O. Box 2568 
Madison, WI 53701-2568 

SHAREOWNER SERVICES 

The company's Shareowner Services 
representatives are available to assist you 
from 8 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. (Central Standard 
Time) each business day at one of the 
following numbers: 

Madison Area number (608) 252-3110 
Toll-free number (800) 356-5343 

Please direct written inquiries to: 
WPL Holdings, Inc.  
Attn: Shareowner Services 
P.O. Box 2568 
Madison, WI 53701-2568 

Internet Address: 
http://www.wplh.com
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